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KOMPLETT BANK ASA – REPORT FROM THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS 2017

About Komplett Bank ASA
Komplett Bank ASA (the “Bank”) started its banking
activities in March 2014, after having received
permission from the Norwegian authorities to
conduct banking operations. Komplett Bank offers
unsecured consumer and leisure financing to private
individuals who qualify for this, subject to a credit
assessment. The Bank’s product range consists of
consumer financing, credit cards, and point of sale
(POS) finance products and offers a deposit product
with an attractive rate of interest. The Bank is a
member of the Norwegian Banks’ Guarantee Fund
and all deposits up to NOK 2 million are insured.
Canica Invest AS is the largest shareholder in the
Bank with a 20 % stake. Canica Invest AS owns the
majority of the Komplett Group, which is the leading
e-commerce group in the Nordic region. Komplett
Bank has established a long-term commercial and
strategic partnership with the Komplett Group.
Komplett Bank is pursuing a growth strategy based
on geographical distribution in the Nordic region
with products in the area of consumer and leisure
financing. Throughout 2017, the Bank has made
preparations for its entry to its third geographical
market, Sweden, where a launch is imminent.
The Bank has its business offices at Vollsveien 2A,
Lysaker, Norway.
Since November 2017, the Bank has been listed on
the Oslo Stock Exchange with ticker symbol KOMP.
The annual financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs and the comparative
figures have been restated from NGAAP to IFRSs.
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profit/average quarterly equity expressed as a
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See Note 23 to the annual financial statements for a detailed
calculation

Performance in 2017
The following have been achieved in the year 2017:
• Profit before tax of NOK 368.8 million.
• At the reporting date, net loans to
customers amounted to NOK 5,461 million.
• ROE 29.4 %1.
• Cost percentage of 20.1 %2.
Highlights in 2017:
• Launch of “Flexible Loan” in Finland in the
first quarter.
• Introduction of POS finance products in
cooperation with the Komplett Group,
initially as part of the POS solution for
Komplett.no
• Sold portfolio of non-performing loans with
a book value of NOK 340 million.
• Successful issue of the Bank’s first senior
unsecured bond. The transaction amounts
to NOK 400 million and has a term of 2 years
from July 2017.
• Implemented a successful IPO on the Oslo
Stock Exchange and, in the same process,
carried out an equity issue of NOK 425
million in autumn 2017.
At the end of the year, the Bank had approx. 58,000
loan customers, approx. 43,000 credit card
customers and approx. 8,000 deposit customers. At
the reporting date, total assets amounted to NOK
6,359.9 million. Net loans to customers in Norway
totalled NOK 4,498.6 million and NOK 973.3 million
in the Finnish market, while deposits from customers
amounted to NOK 4,330.5 million. Total equity
closed on 1,401.7 million. For information about
capital adequacy, please refer to Note 10. The Bank’s
liquid assets, bank deposits and liquid securities
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Total operating expenses excluding marketing costs and losses
from lending/net interest income and net commission
See Note 23 to the annual financial statements for a more
detailed calculation.

came to a total of NOK 823.9 million, the equivalent
of 13.0 % of the Bank’s total assets.
The Bank's profit after tax for the year came in at
NOK 273.8 million. Net interest income amounted to
NOK 669.8 million, while net commission totalled
NOK 37.0 million.
Defaulted loans amounted to NOK 399.7 million at
the end of 2017, equivalent to 7.1 % of gross lending
to customers. As of 31 December 2017, accumulated
impairments amounted to NOK 134.9 million.
Realised losses on lending during the 2017 financial
year totalled NOK 118.7 million.
From 1 January 2018, new standards are being
implemented for financial instruments (IFRS 9) that
will have a considerable impact on the Bank’s
recognised impairments for losses on lending. See
Note 1 to the annual financial statements for a more
detailed description.

Outlook
The Bank expects to achieve continued high growth
in loan volume and profits. The liquidity and capital
situation is expected to remain satisfactory.
Komplett Bank expects that new regulations,
including guidelines for unsecured credits from the
Norwegian Financial Supervisory Authority, will
reduce market growth for unsecured financing in
Norway. The Bank will adapt to new regulation and
continue to focus on creating good, flexible solutions
for its customers and continue diversification and
expansion into new geographical areas and
products. The Bank is well positioned to continue to
increase its market share and achieve sustainable
growth. The diversification and expansion strategy is
steadily reducing the Bank’s dependence on growth
in just one market.
The Bank has a diversified marketing strategy, strong
risk-selection capabilities, a solid balance sheet, as
well as cost-effective operations and a focused
business platform. Combined with a strong brand
and distribution, the Bank is well positioned to take
on the competition and deal with any new regulation
in the markets in which the Bank is present.

The launch of loans and credit cards in this market is
expected to further strengthen the Bank’s growth
platform and contribute to reducing business risks.
The Bank also plans to launch credit card in Finland
during 2018.
The products in the POS finance area, integrated in
the Komplett Group’s stores, are expected to
contribute to increased volumes throughout 2018
and are also planned to be launched in Sweden and
Finland in close cooperation with Komplett Group
during the year.
In order to realise continued profitability and longterm growth, the Bank focuses on geographical and
product-related expansion and diversification within
the Bank’s core areas.

Working environment, equality and
non-discrimination
The Bank’s Board and management strive to
promote gender equality. At the start of the year,
the Bank employed 34 staff, compared with 62 at the
year-end, 40 of whom were men and 22 of whom
were women. Three of the Bank’s five Board
members were women and one of our objectives is
to ensure both genders are represented in
management.
The Bank’s share option programme for all
employees, described in greater detail in the
relevant note to the annual financial statements, is
considered a good incentive for the employees’, the
company’s and shareholders’ mutual interests. The
programme is considered to make an important
contribution to employee motivation, continuous
workplace assessments and staff loyalty. The Bank
offers favourable pension and personal insurance
schemes.
The total sickness absence rate in 2017 was 3.25 %.
The Bank has also performed various activities and
welfare measures to promote an active social
environment, well-being in the workplace and to
prevent and reduce sickness absence. One of the
measures offered, is physical exercise during
working hours and the Bank has recently moved to
larger premises to adapt to its recent growth and to
provide better working conditions.

Preparations for geographical expansion are
continuing, and the launch in Sweden is imminent.
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The Bank has established guidelines to ensure that
no discrimination or harassment occurs on grounds
of ethnicity, national origin, descent, skin colour,
language, religion or beliefs in matters such as
recruitment and salaries. The same applies to
gender, age, sexual orientation, political views and
disabilities.
There have been no reports, or identification, of
breaches of the established guidelines referred to
above. Nor have there been any reports of injuries
or accidents in the workplace.

Statement on corporate social
responsibility
See also statement on corporate social responsibility
in the appendix to the annual report.

Cash flow
In 2017, the cash flow from operating activities was
NOK -809.4 million. Changes to loans to customers
and deposits from customers had a considerable
impact on the cash flow from operating activities.
The cash flow from investing activities was NOK -45.0
million. The cash flow from financing activities was
NOK 797.9 million and relates mainly to capital
increase in 2017 and the issue of senior bonds of
NOK 400 million executed by the Bank.

Financial risk
Credit risk
The Board has adopted a credit policy containing
guidelines on extending credit, risk limits,
monitoring and reporting in the area. The Board
discusses the guidelines at least annually. The Board
receives regular reports on changes in the Bank’s
credit risk.

There has been no material change in the Bank’s
credit risk profile over the accounting year.
Operational risk
The Board has adopted a policy containing guidelines
on operational risk, risk limits, monitoring and
reporting in the area. The Board reviews these
guidelines at least once a year. The Board receives
regular reports on operational matters and any
planned measures.
Operational risk is limited by, among other things,
the relative simplicity of the Bank’s products, and
the fact that the products are aimed at the private
market and involve relatively low individual
amounts.
In 2017, services from external service providers
were extensively used in the Bank’s operations.
These are monitored in line with established
guidelines for outsourcing. The Bank strives for a
great degree of automated, effective and scalable
processes that cater for both the customer’s and
bank’s needs in a satisfactory and secure manner.
Liquidity risk
The Board has adopted a financial policy containing
guidelines for liquidity management, risk limits,
monitoring and reporting in the area. The Board
discusses the guidelines at least annually. The Board
receives regular reports on changes in the Bank’s
liquidity risk.
The Bank’s objective is to have a low liquidity risk.
Liquidity risk is regularly monitored and the Bank’s
investments made in such a manner that the
liquidity risk is kept low. The Bank’s investments
mainly consist of deposits in other financial
institutions or interest-bearing securities with good
liquidity.
Liquidity risk was considered to be low throughout
2017. Lending has been financed using paid-in
equity, retained earnings, senior unsecured bond,
subordinated loan and deposits from the Bank’s
customers. The liquidity coverage ratio (LCR)
requirement that came into force on 31 December
2015 has been complied with. The Bank had an LCR
of 277 % on 31 December 2017.

The Bank only offers loans to private individuals
following a credit assessment that takes into account
the willingness and ability to pay. The credit decision
for individual loan applications is assessed on the
basis of available external and internal information
about the applicant. A combined process is carried
out, using an application score and specific credit
rules. The Bank uses risk-based pricing based on the
assessment, which is carried out in connection with
the setting up of the individual loan.
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Market risk
The Board approved financial policy also covers
guidelines for market risk (including interest rate and
currency risk), risk limits, monitoring and reporting
in the area. The Board discusses the guidelines at
least annually. The Board receives regular reports on
changes in the Bank’s market risk.

Corporate governance

The Bank’s objective is to have a low market risk
exposure. Market risk is regularly monitored and the
Bank’s investments made in such a manner that the
market risk is kept low. The Bank’s investments
mainly consist of deposits in other financial
institutions or interest-bearing securities with a
short fixed-rate and good liquidity.

It is proposed that the profit after tax for the year
2017 be transferred to retained earnings in its
entirety. This appropriation will increase retained
earnings by the profit after tax for the year, NOK
273.8 million.

In 2017, The Bank made acquisitions in foreign
currency as a result of the introduction to the Finnish
market, in addition to NOK. Consequently, at the
reporting date, the Bank had loans in NOK and EUR,
but all deposits were denominated in NOK. The
Bank’s net foreign exchange exposure is kept low
and controlled through a multi-currency facility in
another bank. The Bank’s open net currency
exposure was 1.99 million EUR at 31 December
2017. Loans to Finnish customers was 98.9 million
EUR, corresponding to NOK 973.3 million.
The Bank does not offer a fixed term rate of interest
on any of its products.

Komplett Bank’s company management focuses on
achieving the company’s strategic targets. See
separate declaration on corporate governance in the
appendix to the annual report.

Appropriation of profit for the year

Other information
The Board confirms that the Bank satisfies the
conditions to continue as a going concern. The Board
is not aware of events after the reporting date of
material importance for the annual financial
statements.
In 2017, the extent of the Bank’s in-house
development activities increased. This is partly
linked to the development of tools that will
contribute to the Bank’s present operations and
future-oriented projects that it will be possible to
realise in order to reinforce the Bank’s business
position.
The Bank is of the opinion that its operations do not
pollute the external environment.

Bærum, 28 February 2018 - The Board of Directors of Komplett Bank ASA

________________
Live Bertha Haukvik
Chairman

________________
Hermann Alexander Kopp
Board member

________________
Casper Wakefield
Board member

________________
Bodil Palma Hollingsæter
Deputy chairman

________________
Christina Heskestad Pedersen
Board member

________________
Raimond Pettersen
CEO
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DECLARATION CONCERNING ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND REPORT FROM THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
We confirm that the annual financial statements for the period 1 January to 31 December 2017 have, to the best
of our belief, been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards and that the information in the
financial statements provides a true picture of the company’s assets, liabilities, financial position and results as a
whole, and that the information in the Report from the Board of Directors provides a true picture of the
development, results and position of the company, together with a description of the key risk and uncertainty
factors the company faces.

Bærum, 28 February 2018 - The Board of Directors of Komplett Bank ASA

________________
Live Bertha Haukvik
Chairman

________________
Hermann Alexander Kopp
Board member

________________
Casper Wakefield
Board member

________________
Bodil Palma Hollingsæter
Deputy chairman

________________
Christina Heskestad Pedersen
Board member

________________
Raimond Pettersen
CEO
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Komplett Bank ASA's management and The Board of Directors annually review the principles for corporate
governance and how they are implemented in the company pursuant the Accounting Act section 3-3b and the
Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance dated 30 October 2014 (hereinafter referred to as the
"NCPCG"). Below follows an account of Komplett Bank's corporate governance principles and practice.

The Accounting Act section 3-3b
In the following Komplett Bank's corporate governance is reviewed in more detail pursuant to the Accounting
Act section 3-3b second subsection. The numbering below mirrors the numbering of the section.
1.

The company's corporate governance is based on Norwegian law and the Norwegian Code of Practice for
Corporate Governance dated 30 October 2014 (NCPCG).

2.

The NCPCG is available at www.nues.no/english/

3.

Deviations from the NCPCG are mentioned under "The Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate
Governance" below.

4.

Description of the main elements of the Bank's internal control and risk management systems associated
with the accounting process is described in section 10 under "The Norwegian Code of Practice for
Corporate Governance" below.

5.

Komplett Bank's articles of association do not contain any provisions that deviate from the Public Limited
Companies Act chapter 5.

6.

The compositions of the corporate bodies as well as a description of the main elements of the current
instructions and guidelines governing the duties of these bodies are further reviewed under sections 6,
7, 8 and 9 under "The Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance" below.

7.

Provisions in the articles of association that regulate appointment and replacement of board members
are reviewed in section 8 of "The Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance" below.

8.

Provisions in the articles of association and authorisations permitting The Board of Directors to resolve
to repurchase or issue own shares, are reviewed in section 3 of "The Norwegian Code of Practice for
Corporate Governance" below.

The Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance
Below Komplett Bank's compliance with the fifteen items of the NCPCG is reviewed, as well as any deviations
from the recommendation.
1.

REVIEW OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The company seeks to maintain high standards of corporate governance and considers this an important
premise for value creation. There are no substantial deviations between the NCPCG and the implementation of
the code in Komplett Bank.
Good corporate governance is a priority for The Board of Directors of Komplett Bank. The Board of Directors of
Komplett Bank has adopted policies that specify that the company's business shall be carried out with high
ethical standards and integrity. A clear organisational structure has been developed, with clearly defined areas
of responsibility, which contributes to a uniform management of the company.
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In addition, the corporate governance of Komplett Bank is organised to achieve the company's strategic
objectives while maintaining the company's values and ethical policy. Komplett Bank's code of ethics sets a high
standard for the company's operation and creates a framework for the behaviour and attitudes of The Board of
Directors, the management and the employees in accordance with the at all times applicable standards and
rules.
The Bank's remaining policies and procedures are based on the view that good corporate governance depends
on openness and trust-based collaboration between the company's shareholders, The Board of Directors, the
management, the employees, public authorities, other involved parties and society as a whole. In the opinion of
The Board of Directors, openness and trust-based cooperation will contribute to increased trust in the Bank's
operations, which is an objective of the creation and implementation of the Bank's corporate governance.
2.

OPERATIONS

Komplett Bank can, within the framework of the at all times applicable legislation, carry out all operations and
services that are common or natural for banks to carry out.
The Bank's articles of association are available at Komplett Bank's homepage at www.komplettbank.no.
Komplett Bank offers primary unsecured consumer and leisure financing to individuals, following specific credit
rating. Komplett Bank further follows a growth strategy based on geographical distribution in the Nordic
countries and has launched their loan products to private individuals in Finland, and plans a launch in Sweden in
the first quarter of 2018. The credit card is launched in Norway, and is expected to be launched in Sweden and
Finland in the letter half of 2018. The Bank also offers point of sales (POS) products, and expect increased
volumes in regard to this in Norway, and is also planning to launch these POS-products in Sweden and Finland in
2018.
3.

COMPANY CAPITAL AND PROFIT

On 31 December 2017, Komplett Bank had an equity of NOK 1,401.7 million.
According to fixed calculation rules for capital adequacy for financial institutions, Komplett Bank had a total
capital adequacy of 27.8 %, with a core capital adequacy of 25.7 %.
The Board of Directors of Komplett Bank continuously assesses the company's capital position in light of the
regulatory requirements, the company's objectives, strategies and desired risk appetite. Komplett Bank has a
capital adequacy objective of 20.5 %, including a core capital adequacy of 17.0 % to provide leverage for the
Bank's growth strategy, as well as satisfying any Pillar 2 requirements imposed on the Bank by the Financial
Supervisory Authority of Norway.
At the annual general meeting in 2017, the general meeting granted The Board of Directors' authorisation to
increase the company's share capital by up to NOK 7,000,000 in connection with the company's employee
options scheme. The authorisation has been partially utilised, and is valid until the company's annual general
meeting in 2018. The Board of Directors proposes that the general meeting adopts a similar authorisation that is
to be valid until the annual general meeting in 2019. Reference is made to the notice of the 2018 annual general
meeting. In connection with the listing of the Bank's shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange in November 2017, The
Board of Directors was granted the authorisation to increase the company's share capital by up to NOK
37,000,000. The authorisation was partially utilised in connection with the stock exchange listing and cannot be
used for any other purposes.
The Bank follows a growth strategy based on geographical distribution in the Nordic countries, and until further,
growth will be prioritized above dividend to shareholders. The company has therefore adopted a dividends
policy of 0 % of the company's profit.
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4.

EQUAL TREATMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS AND TRANSACTIONS WITH CLOSE ASSOCIATES

The Board of Directors and the management of Komplett Bank emphasise that all shares of the company shall be
treated equally and that they shall have the same opportunity to influence. Komplett Bank has one class of
shares and each share entitles to one vote. In connection with increases of the share capital, the Bank's existing
shareholders will be given pre-emptive rights. Any derogation from the pre-emptive rights must be grounded in
the company's and the shareholders' interests.
The company has adopted special rules for administrative procedure regarding notification and impartiality
when board members and/or the management have personal or economic interests in a transaction in which the
Bank is involved. Before a matter of particular importance to board members or persons in management, or
someone close to them, is considered, the person who is not entitled to participate in the consideration or
decision of the case shall notify the company and refrain from further participation in the case. This also follows
from the Bank's code of ethics.
Canica Invest AS, which is part of the Komplett group, is the company's largest shareholder with an ownership
interest of 20 %. The Komplett group is the leading Nordic e-commerce group. Komplett Bank has established a
long-term commercial and strategic collaboration with the Komplett group and aims to develop financial
products and services based on this collaboration.
Furthermore, Komplett Bank has prepared policies for transactions with close associates. There is a collaboration
agreement between Komplett AS and Komplett Bank ASA. The agreement covers IP rights, marketing
collaboration and other services. The agreement was renewed in 2017, and is valid for 5 years. In addition, an
agreement for product collaboration relating to the Bank's credit card, and associated benefits programme, has
been entered into. The purpose of the agreement is to promote the sale and use of the Bank's credit card, and to
help promote sales for Komplett AS. An agreement has been entered into with Komplett AS relating to the
development of a solution for integration of the Bank's POS-products in the Komplett group's checkout
solutions. The Bank's products were implemented in the Komplett group's checkout solutions in the latter half of
2017, at first as part of Komplett group’s checkout solutions. Further integration is planned to be developed in
2018. All transactions with close associates are executed on the same terms and conditions as if they had been
entered into with independent parties.
5.

FREE NEGOTIABILITY

Komplett Bank's shares are listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange with the ticker "KOMP" and are freely negotiable.
The articles of associations do not contain any negotiability restrictions.
6.

THE GENERAL MEETING

Through the general meeting of Komplett Bank, the shareholders exercise the highest authority in the company.
According to the articles of association, the annual general meeting shall be held each year by the end of April.
Notice of the general meeting, as well as an attendance slip and a proxy form, will be made available on
Komplett Bank's webpages, www.komplettbank.no, at the latest 21 days before the date of the general meeting.
Shareholders who wish to attend the general meeting must forward the attendance slip or the proxy form
according to the information provided in the notice. The voting procedure, including the procedure for meeting
by proxy, and the shareholders' right to submit alternatives to The Board of Directors' proposals to the general
meeting are further described in the notice.
According to Komplett Bank's articles of association, the Chairman shall chair the general meeting. The board
members and the auditor shall also be summoned to general meeting meetings. The board members have right
of attendance and right to speak at general meeting meetings. The Chairman and the managing director have a
duty to be present, unless their absence is lawful, in which case, a deputy shall be appointed.
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The general meeting elects the Board of Director's shareholder-elected members as well as the members of the
nomination committee. The general meeting also elects the company's auditor.
Resolutions are made by simple majority, unless otherwise directed by law or the articles of association.
7.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

According to its articles of association, the company shall have a nomination committee that presents its
recommendation to the annual general meeting in relation to election of board members and the nomination
committee, as well as proposals relating to remuneration for such members. The general meeting has adopted
its own policy relating to the work of the nomination committee.
The nomination committee shall consist of three members who shall be elected by the general meeting. The
majority of the nomination committee's members shall be independent of The Board of Directors and the
company's management. Board members, the managing director and other members of the Bank's management
cannot be elected as members of the nomination committee.
The members of the nomination committee are elected for two years, unless otherwise decided by the general
meeting.
8.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS, COMPOSTION AND INDEPENDENCE

Pursuant to the current articles of association, the company's Board of Directors shall consist of up to five
members, who shall be elected by the general meeting. Based on the Bank's organisation and operation, The
Board of Directors shall have the qualifications required to carry out their duties, and at least one of the
members shall have accounting or auditing qualifications. According to the current articles of association, one of
The Board of Directors' elected members shall be an employee of the Bank. For this member, a personal deputy,
with right of attendance and the right to speak at board meetings, shall be elected. The Board of Directors
proposes to the 2018 annual general meeting that the articles of association be amended with regards to this, so
that the general meeting no longer shall elect one board member with a deputy who is an employee of the Bank.
At the same time, the company shall arrange for the election of employee representatives with deputies by and
among the employees. It is also proposed to amend the number of board members in the articles of association
to an interval, from four to six shareholder elected members.
The general meeting appoints the Chairman and the Deputy chairman. The board members are elected for a
term of two years and, among the elected members by the shareholders, the ones who have served the longest
retire each year.
The majority of the shareholder-elected board members shall be independent of executive employees and major
business associates, and at least two of the shareholder-elected members shall be independent of the
company's principal shareholders.
In 2017, The Board of Directors held 17 meetings.
An overview of the board members and the Chairman is available at Komplett Bank's webpages,
www.komplettbank.no/om-komplett-bank/.
9.

THE DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors of Komplett Bank shall ensure a proper organisation of the operations. The Board of
Directors prepares plans and budgets as well as policies for the Bank's operations, and shall ensure that the
company has in place appropriate systems for risk management and internal control. The Board of Directors
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shall keep abreast of the company's financial position through review and adoption of quarterly and annual
reports, as well as monthly reviews of Komplett Bank's financial position and development.
The Board of Directors shall also monitor and control the Bank's overall risk, and regularly assess whether the
Bank's management and control systems are adapted to the risk appetite and the scope of the Bank's
operations. The entire Board of Directors also functions as the company's risk committee. The company's risk
management and internal control are described in more detail in section 10 "Risk management and internal
control" below.
The Board of Directors has prepared an instruction for The Board of Directors' duties and responsibilities, which
matters that should be dealt with; procedure rules etc. An annual assessment of The Board of Directors' duties
and competence is carried out. The Board of Directors further determines an annual plan for its work. The Board
of Directors has also issued instructions for the management of the Bank.
The entire Board of Directors constitutes the company's risk and audit committee, and the remuneration
committee. This constitutes a deviation from section 9 of the Norwegian Code of Principles for Corporate
Governance, where it is stated that the entire Board of Directors ought not to function as the company's audit
committee. The Public Limited Liability Companies Act section 6-42 (3) state that the company’s articles of
association may stipulate that the combined board is to act as the company’s audit committee provided the
board. The Financial Institutions Act and Financial Groups with regulations state that financial institutions with
assets more than NOK 20 billion are not permitted to take benefit of the ruling in The Public Limited Liability
Companies Act section 6-42 (3). Komplett Bank’s total assets, and how the organization is structured and the fact
that the Bank has an uniform product set up defined to certain markets, the Bank consider it expedient to
stipulate that the combined board is to act as the company’s audit committee.
The audit committee is a preparatory and guiding committee for The Board of Directors and shall:
•

Prepare The Board of Directors' follow-up of the accounting reporting process;

•

Monitor the systems for internal control and risk management, as well as the company's internal audit;

•

Submit a statement relating to election of auditor;

•

Be in regular contact with the company's elected auditor regarding the audit of the annual accounts; and

•

Evaluate and monitor the auditor's independence and objectivity, including, in particular, to what degree
services other than auditing provided by the auditor may affect the auditor's independence and
objectivity.

The remuneration committee is responsible for Komplett Bank's remuneration scheme and shall ensure that this
contributes to promote, and provide incentives for, good management and control of the company's risk,
counteracts high risk-taking and contributes to avoiding conflicts of interest. The remuneration scheme is
formulated pursuant to the at all times applicable requirements for financial institutions in law and regulations.
Pursuant to the Public Liability Companies Act section 6-16a; The Board of Directors shall prepare a declaration
on the fixing of salaries to the managing director and other executive employees.
10. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Risk management and internal control are key components of Komplett Bank's strategy and operations. A set of
policies and procedures are adopted to ensure efficient risk management and internal control are in line with
the Bank's risk appetite and its operational scope.
In addition, The Board of Directors of Komplett Bank is responsible for ensuring that the Bank has an equity and
subordinated loan capital that is sound according to the adopted risk appetite and regulatory requirements. Risk
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management and internal control also form an important part of the Bank's assessment of short-term and longterm capital needs, where risks at all times are related to the operation, and the risk that may arise, are included
in the assessment.
Risk management and internal control shall safeguard the achievement of the Bank's strategic objectives while
simultaneously ensuring a solid financial stability. This aim will be achieved through:
•

A strong organisational culture characterised by a high awareness of risk.

•

A good understanding of the risks that drive earnings, including the ability to steer within the risk appetite
as defined by The Board of Directors.

•

Striving for an optimal capital utilisation within the adopted business strategy.

•

Avoiding unexpected incidents that may materially and adversely affect the Bank's financial position.

As Komplett Bank primarily secures earnings through credit exposure in the consumer market for unsecured
credit, it follows from the policies that Komplett Bank's risk appetite for credit risk is higher than its risk appetite
for liquidity, market and operational risk.
The company has a clear organisational structure with clearly defined roles and areas of responsibilities for the
Bank's risk management and internal control, as described in the following.
The company's Board of Directors
The Board of Directors of Komplett Bank shall oversee and manage the Bank's total risk and regularly assess
whether the Bank's management and control arrangements are adapted to the Bank's risk appetite and the
operational scope. The Board of Directors shall further ensure that the Bank's capital adequacy is proportionate
to the regulatory requirements, the risk exposure and the operational scope of the Bank. Furthermore, The
Board of Directors sets overall goals and policies, and grants powers of attorney for Komplett Bank's
management and control of risks, including risk appetite.
The Board of Directors annually assesses its work and its competence in relation to the Bank's risk management
and internal control. In addition, The Board of Directors annually reviews the Bank's risk management and
internal control, including instances that have been reported or treated by The Board of Directors during the
year.
The risk and audit committee
The entire Board of Directors functions as the Bank's risk and audit committee. The committee shall thoroughly
assess the Bank's risk management and internal control, as well as the Bank's financial position, including
financial reporting. The risk and audit committee shall ensure that the Bank has an independent and efficient
external audit and satisfactory financial reporting in compliance with laws and regulations.
The remuneration committee
The remuneration committee shall ensure that Komplett Bank has policies and frameworks in place for its
remuneration scheme. Komplett Bank's remuneration scheme shall promote and provide incentives for good
management and control of the company's risk. The remuneration scheme shall comply with the undertaking's
principal objectives, risk appetite and long-term interests. The entire Board of Directors assumes the
responsibility of Komplett Bank's remuneration committee.
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The managing director
The managing director shall ensure that the board-approved objectives, frameworks, policies and powers of
attorneys for the Bank's risk management and internal control are complied with, and shall ensure that
executive employees carry out and document necessary internal control measures to identify, measure, followup and control risk, as well as providing The Board of Directors with relevant and timely information that is
important to the company's risk management and internal control. The managing director is also responsible for
compliance with the company's policies and the resolutions of The Board of Directors.
The management group
Department managers shall report to the managing director and are responsible for monitoring, controlling and
reporting that Komplett Bank complies with self-imposed and statutory requirements in their respective areas of
responsibility. The department managers shall, among other things, carry out and document risk assessments for
their own areas, review these annually, and ensure that the organisation and work distribution in the
department is appropriate with a clear distribution of control assignments and responsibilities.
The CFO/finance director
Komplett Bank's CFO shall keep an overview of the Bank's financial position, prepare accounts and reports,
including preparing financial reporting to public authorities, conducting continuous management and control of
the Bank's overall liquidity and financial risk. The finance director is responsible for ensuring that the accounting
work is carried out in a rational manner, in compliance with the current regulations.
The risk control function
The risk control function shall ensure that all significant risks are identified, measured and reported by the
relevant organisational units of Komplett Bank. The risk control function shall report directly to The Board of
Directors in cases where The Board of Directors does not receive necessary information about significant risks in
the general reporting or notify in cases where the identified risks affect or may affect the Bank.
The risk control function may be combined with other roles, but shall be independent of the Bank's management
and other areas of the Bank's operation and cannot be removed without the consent of The Board of Directors.
The compliance function
The compliance function reports to the managing director and The Board of Directors, and is responsible for
independently controlling; reporting and monitoring that the Bank complies with self-imposed requirements and
regulatory requirements. The compliance function may be combined with other roles, but shall be independent
of the Bank's management and other areas of the Bank's operations and cannot be removed without the
consent of The Board of Directors.
The balance committee
The entire management group functions as the Bank's balance committee and is chaired by the managing
director. The CFO shall prepare matters for the balance committee. The balance committee carries out the
overall management of the Bank's liquidity risk appetite and prepares proposals to The Board of Directors
relating to amendments to the Bank's financial policy.
The committee shall, among other things, decide placement strategies and changes in the terms of the Bank's
deposit products and follow up internal control and reporting. In addition, the committee is responsible for
preparing matters for The Board of Directors regarding the internal capital adequacy assessment process
(ICAAP), including assessing capital requirements, and the company's liquidity contingency plan.
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The finance department
The finance department is responsible for risk management and internal control of the following risks:
•

counterparty risk outside its loan operations,

•

market risk,

•

liquidity risk, and

•

financial risk

The finance department is responsible for complying with the risk appetite adopted in the Bank's finance policy,
given by The Board of Directors of Komplett Bank. The policy provides the framework for what The Board of
Directors sees as a satisfactory risk profile, and shall contribute to suitable risk management and internal control,
and thus ensure regular reporting and monitoring.
The credit committee
The entire management group functions as the Bank's credit committee and is headed by the managing director.
The credit committee shall prepare proposals to The Board of Directors regarding amendments to the Bank's
credit policy, decide on the delegation of credit power of attorneys as well as adjusting or determining new
credit procedures and credit processes. Furthermore, the committee shall follow up internal control and submit
regular reports relating to the Bank's exposure to and handling of credit risk.
The Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway
Komplett Bank's operations are subject to the supervision of the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway. The
Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway reviews, among other things, the Bank's annual and quarterly reports
as well as the Bank's internal capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAP) where the capital requirements and
the contingency plan are specified. The objective of Board of Directors of Komplett Bank is to have an open and
constructive dialogue with the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway.
Audit
The annual reports are subject to audit by the company's external auditor. Komplett Bank shall not give the
auditor assignments that may create doubt with regards to the auditor's independence and objectivity. The
auditor's responsibility and role are described in more detail in section 15 "Auditor" below.
11. REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors' remuneration is fixed by the general meeting based on the recommendation from the
nomination committee. Remuneration of The Board of Directors is not dependent on results or the market
development of the company's shares.
The remuneration for The Board of Directors is described in more detail in note 12 to the annual report.
12. REMUNERATION OF EXECUTIVE EMPLOYEES
The company has prepared policies for remuneration of its executive employees and other employees with tasks
that are of major importance to the company's risk exposure. The purpose of these policies is to promote and
provide incentives for good management and control of the company's risk, to counteract high-risk taking and
help avoid conflicts of interests.
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Remuneration to executive employees and key personnel consists of a fixed and a variable part. The variable
remuneration shall not exceed the fixed remuneration, unless special conditions are met and this is decided by
the general meeting. For executive and key employees, the remuneration is determined based on a
comprehensive assessment, where the main emphasis of the variable part of the remuneration is based on
results achieved, balance sheet management (including financial strength and liquidity management),
implementation of the company's strategic plan and compliance with the agreed risk tolerance framework. In
the assessment, overall objective achievement, development over time and the company's long-term interests
will be considered. The overall assessment must be based on both quantitative and qualitative conditions.
Komplett Bank's remuneration scheme for variable remuneration is designed in accordance with applicable
requirements for remuneration schemes for credit institutions.
The executive employees are also included in a share option scheme for employees. The option scheme is based
on the employee's basic salary and other variable benefits. The value of the options for the share options
granted are based on full market value at the time of the award, according to the Black & Scholes option pricing
model. With regards to fixed salary, the employees may, within intervals based on the employee's position in the
company, choose how much of the salary to be paid in share options.
The executive employees' share option scheme complies with the rules for remuneration schemes in credit
institutions, which means that share options issued by the company to executive employees are subject to lockup limitations for a period of three years.
The practice of the Bank's remuneration scheme, including the option scheme, is reviewed and assessed
annually by the company's Board of Directors.
13. INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION
Komplett Bank has adopted an investor relations policy to ensure that the financial market and the shareholders
have sufficient information about Komplett Bank to assess the correct pricing. The company aims for and will
ensure non-discriminatory sharing of information when the company is in contact with shareholders and
analysts. Communication with shareholders, investors and analysts is a priority to the company.
Investor information such as annual and interim reports, open presentations, stock exchange notifications, and
financial calendars are made available on the Bank's webpages while being published to the market.
The Board of Directors has furthermore set guidelines for the company's contact with shareholders outside the
general meeting.
14. TAKEOVERS
Anyone wishing to carry out an acquisition that will lead to the ownership of a qualified holding (10 % or more)
of a financial institution, must notify the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway in advance. Acquisition of a
qualified holding can only be carried out following permission granted by the Financial Supervisory Authority of
Norway.
The company has prepared guidelines for any takeover bids and The Board of Directors of Komplett Bank will
handle any bids in accordance with these guidelines.
15. AUDITOR
The auditor shall present the annual plan for audit implementation to The Board of Directors. The auditor
participates in board meetings that deal with the annual accounts. The auditor shall annually review the
company's internal control with The Board of Directors. In accordance to instructions decided by The Board of
Directors, The Board of Directors shall meet with the auditor at least once per year, without the managing
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director or others from the management present. The auditor shall annually confirm in writing its independence
and account for which services other than the statutory audit that have been delivered to the company during
the accounting year.
The company has prepared separate guidelines for non-audit work performed by the company's auditor.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY DECLARATION
Komplett Bank's corporate social responsibility permeates the Bank's strategic plans, values, policies and
procedures. Komplett Bank has established a code of ethics that establishes frameworks that will help people
representing the Bank to perform their activities in an ethically sound manner and in accordance with the
standards set by the Bank through its other procedures and policies. The following describes the Bank's efforts
to integrate corporate social responsibility in the Bank's operations.
RESPONSIBLE CREDIT PRACTICE
Komplett Bank is required to operate in accordance with the principles of fairness and good business practices as
well as the requirement to safeguard consumer interests. As a provider of unsecured consumer and leisure
financing to individuals the Bank's overall objective and strategy is to pursue responsible credit practices. The
Board of Directors has adopted separate policies and procedures for loan activities that ensure such practices. In
addition, the Bank's internal procedures and processes are organised in accordance with the at all times
applicable laws, regulations and other regulatory requirements.
All customers shall be credit-assessed based on information obtained from the customers themselves relating to
income, expenses, liabilities and assets, in addition to information from other relevant databases. Komplett Bank
will not grant loans or issue credit cards to customers who do not have sufficient ability to service a loan.
Marketing of the Bank's products is organised in accordance with statutory requirements and the Bank is an
affiliate of Finance Norway1 and the Association of Norwegian Finance Houses' 2 industry standard for marketing
of credit cards and consumer loans.
HUMAN RIGHTS
The Bank's code of ethics ensures a solid framework and will guide persons representing the Bank to act in
accordance to standards set by governing documents. The framework fulfils laws, regulations and instructions
that is applicable to the Bank, and state principles for behaviour were laws are not covering. The code of ethics
provides a framework that the Bank considers to cover responsible behaviour, but may not be exhaustive.
Persons representing Komplett Bank should always exercise good judgment, thoughtfulness and caution.
Risk management and internal control are an integrated part of Komplett Bank's strategic and business
processes, and include measures and management of operational risk. Operational risk includes incidents that
negatively affects the Bank, including unethical acts or omissions that ignore human rights. Thus, the Bank's risk
management and internal control integrate human rights considerations through its strategy and business
processes to minimise operational risk and ensure that measures are taken to expose such risk.
The above shows that Komplett Bank integrates human rights into its operations. The Bank's policies and other
processes help prevent Komplett Bank from contributing to business and other projects that constitute unethical
acts or omissions.

1

Norw. 'Finans Norge'. The industry organisation for the financial industry in Norway.
Norw. 'Finansieringsselskapenes Forening'. Specialist organisation for leasing, factoring and other methods of
financing, such as credit cards.
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EMPLOYEE RIGHTS AND SOCIAL CIRCUMSTANCES
Komplett Bank's objective is to be an attractive employer with a good working environment. The Bank's HR
department annually reviews sickness absence, gender equality and employee satisfaction, among others. The
review is integrated into the Bank's internal control and provides the basis for the implementation of any
improvement measures.
The annual review indicates that the Bank's employees are happy in the workplace and are of the opinion that
the working environment is good, which is underlined by low employee wastage and generally low sickness
absence. Komplett Bank has taken steps to ensure that the employees continue to be satisfied with working in
the Bank; specific measures include social events and more frequent appraisal interviews. Komplett Bank aims to
promote gender equality, and emphasizes that all genders have equal opportunities. In 2017, Komplett Bank had
a sickness absence that in the Bank's opinion is low, but aims to reduce the absence further. In order to reduce
the sickness absence, the Bank has implemented measures that include closer follow-up of and dialogue with
employees on sick leave.
The Board of Directors' assessment is that, overall, the working environment is good.
THE EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT
Komplett Bank does not conduct business that pollutes the external environment beyond what is common for
banking operations that have limited environmental impact. In addition, Komplett Bank is fully digitalised, which
means that it offers its products on the company's webpages, reducing the consumption of paper and transport.
The Bank has not drawn up separate guidelines relating to the external environment, however, it is largely
covered by the Bank's business model.
THE FIGHT AGAINST CORRUPTION
Komplett Bank has adopted policies stating that the company's operations shall be conducted with high ethical
standards and integrity. The Bank's code of ethics imposes requirements on employees, workplace
representatives and the Bank's conduct, including prohibitions on the receipt of, request for or acceptance of
offers of improper advantage and prohibiting the Bank from giving financial benefits or gifts to company's
associates or others that may be perceived as improper advantages. Further requirements are imposed on
employees' and workplace representatives' impartiality, due care and whistleblowing. The Bank's policies and
procedures also contain measures and description of business processes for the prevention of money
laundering, terrorist financing, fraud, identity theft and corruption.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Amounts in NOK million

Note

Interest income
Interest expenses

2017

2016

11

756.2

421.9

2,11

86.5

50.3

669.8

371.6

Net interest income

Income commissions and fees

11

89.1

46.5

Expenses commissions and fees

11

52.0

28.9

37.0

17.6

2,5,20,21

2.5

2.0

12.15

69.0

44.1

General administrative expenses

13

115.3

65.1

Direct marketing expenses

13

79.9

49.5

184.3

109.2

14.3
23.0

6.3
13.1

221.7

128.6

118.7

85.7

Net commissions and fees
Net gains / losses (-) on certificates and bonds, and currency
Salary and other personnel expenses

Total salary and admin. expenses
Ordinary depreciation
Other expenses

6
2,12,13

Total operating expenses excl. lossses on loans
Losses on loans

3

Pre-tax operating profit

368.8

176.9

Tax expenses

14

95.0

47.7

Profit after tax

17

273.8

129.2

Earnings per share (NOK)

17

1.60

0.87

Diluted earnings per share (NOK)

17

1.46

0.79

17

273.8

Comprehensive income
2017

Amounts in NOK million

Comprehensive income for the period
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2016
129.2

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Note

Amounts in NOK million

31.12.2017 31.12.2016 01.01.2016

Assets
Loans and deposits with credit institutions

4,16,20

442.3

498.8

251.7

Net loans to customers

3,16,20

5,461.0

3,322.0

1,601.1

Certificates and bonds

2,5,16,20,21

381.6

310.0

220.0

Other intangible assets

6.16

56.8

26.0

22.3

14

0.4

0.0

5.9

Fixed assets

6.16

1.0

0.5

0.4

Other receivables

8.16

Deferred tax assets

Total assets

16.9

0.8

0.2

6,359.9

4,158.1

2,101.5

3,313.0

1,751.1

Equity and liabilities
Deposits from and debt to customers

8,16,20

4,330.5

Senior unsecured bond

8,16,20

399.3

-

-

Other debt

8,16,18

76.9

23.5

16.1

2,8,16,20

64.6

64.1

-

2,14

87.0

39.2

4,958.2

3,439.9

1,767.2

7,10,22

171.4

148.4

135.5

10

771.9

392.6

205.8

2,10

44.6

45.0

-

10

35.5

24.9

12.8

Subordinated loans
Tax payable
Total liabilities
Share capital
Share premium reserve
Tier 1 capital
Other paid-in equity

2,10

-

378.4

107.3

-19.8

Total equity

1,401.7

718.3

334.3

Total equity and liabilities

6,359.9

4,158.1

2,101.5

Retained earnings

Bærum, 28 February 2018 - The Board of Directors of Komplett Bank ASA

________________
Live Bertha Haukvik
Chairman

________________
Hermann Alexander Kopp
Board member

________________
Casper Wakefield
Board member

________________
Bodil Palma Hollingsæter
Deputy chairman

________________
Christina Heskestad Pedersen
Board member

________________
Raimond Pettersen
CEO
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
Amounts in NOK million

Note

2017

2016

2015

Cash flow from operating activities
Pre-tax operating profit

17

368.8

176.9

18.8

Taxes

-

-

14

-39.0

Ordinary depreciation

6

14.3

6.3

4.7

Change in loans

3

-2,153.3

-1,805.2

-1,194.2

Change in deposits from customers

8

1,017.5

1,561.9

1,087.5

Change in securities

5

-71.6

-90.0

23.8

53.8

102.1

47.9

-809.4

-48.1

-11.5

Change in accruals
Net cash flow from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Investments in fixed assets

6

-0.6

-0.4

-0.4

Investments in intangible assets

6

-44.4

-10.5

-15.3

-45.0

-10.8

-15.7

402.3

199.7

150.8

Net cash flow used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Paid-in equity

7

Uptake of subordinated debt
Uptake of senior unsecured bond
Uptake of Tier 1 capital
Payment to Tier 1 capital investors

2

Net cash flow from financing activities
Net cash flow for the period

-

64.1

-

399.3

-

-

-

45.0

-

-3.7

-2.8

-

797.9

306.1

150.8

-56.5

247.1

124.6

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period

4

498.8

251.7

128.1

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

4

442.3

498.8

251.7
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share capital
Amounts in NOK million

Share
premium
reserve

Tier 1 capital

Other paid in
capital

Retained
earnings

Total Equity

Equity as at 01.01.2016

135.5

205.8

-

12.8

-19.8

334.3

Share capital increase

12.9

186.8

-

-

-

199.7

Changes in equity due to share options
program

-

-

-

12.1

-

12.1

Net profit for the period

-

-

-

-

129.2

129.2

Tier 1 capital
Paid interest on Tier 1 capital

-

-

45.0

-

-

45.0

-

-

-

-

-2.8

-2.8

Tax effect interest Tier 1 capital

-

-

-

-

0.7

0.7

148.4

392.6

45.0

24.9

107.3

718.3

23.0

379.2

-

-

-

402.2

-

-

-

10.6

-

10.6

Net profit for the period
Tier 1 capital

-

-

-

-

273.8

273.8

-

-

-0.5

-

-

-0.5

Paid interest on Tier 1 capital

-

-

-

-

-3.7

-3.7

Tax effect interest Tier 1 capital

-

-

-

-

0.9

0.9

171.4

771.9

44.6

35.5

378.4

1,401.7

Equity as at 31.12.2016
Share capital increase
Changes in equity due to share options
program

Equity as at 31.12.2017
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NOTE 1: ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
At the end of 2017, Komplett Bank offered consumer loans, credit cards and high-interest accounts to private individuals in
Norway and consumer loans to private individuals in Finland. During the reporting period, the company implemented POS
finance in partnership with the Komplett Group. In 2018, the Bank plans further cross-border activity by offering credit cards
and POS finance to private individuals in Sweden and Finland and consumer loans to private individuals in Sweden. The
company is headquartered at Vollsveien 2A, 1366 Lysaker.
The financial statements for 2017 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
approved by the European Union. The financial statements for the period ending 31 December 2016 were presented in
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and generally accepted accounting practice in Norway, with the exceptions
and additions pursuant to the provisions in regulations on annual financial statements for banks, credit companies and finance
and mortgage companies and regulations on the accounting treatment of loans and guarantees in financial institutions.
Comparative figures have been prepared as if the Bank had implemented IFRS from 1 January 2016. In connection with this,
please refer to the statement of changes in equity, and Note 2 transition from NGAAP to IFRS.
Unless otherwise directly indicated in the notes, amounts are stated in NOK millions.
Accounting standards that are not implemented (as of 31 December 2017)
There are several new standards, changes and interpretations that have not entered into force for the year ending
31 December 2017 and that have not been applied when preparing these financial statements.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments has been approved by the EU and is compulsory from 1 January 2018 and replaces IAS 39 Financial
Instruments – Recognition and Measurement. Companies may only restate comparative figures without the use of hindsight,
i.e., knowledge that is prepared after the end of the reporting period is not used. The standard regulates the classification,
measurement and accounting treatment of financial assets and financial liabilities. IFRS 9 introduces a single, simple approach
to the classification and measurement of financial assets in relation to their cash flow properties and the business model they
are managed under, and provides a new impairment model based on expected losses.
IFRS 9 adopts a more principle-based approach to whether an instrument should be measured at amortised cost or fair value
than today’s rules. Cost-based measurement (amortised cost) can only be applied to financial assets held in order to receive
contractual cash flows. All other instruments are measured in the balance sheet at fair value, with changes in value either
recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income or profit on ordinary activities.
IFRS 9 will influence the Bank’s calculations of impairment losses, essentially in the context of the Bank’s loans to customers.
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are impaired in accordance with IAS 39 where there is objective evidence that a
loss has occurred. IFRS 9 involves a transition from IAS 39’s “accrued loss model” to an expected loss model, where impairments
are recognised based on the company’s best estimate on the balance sheet date, using available information about the past,
present and estimates for the future. The model used by the Bank to calculate impairment losses will also cover Probability of
default, Exposure at default and Loss given default as well as triggers for the transition across the three different classes
introduced in IFRS 9 (1. Performing, 2. Significant increase in the credit risk compared with initial recognition, 3. Defaulted). In
the case of financial assets subject to impairment tests in accordance with IFRS 9, impairments are measured and recognised
for 12 months’ expected loss for financial assets regarded as performing (class 1). Performing loans are defined as loans where
the credit risk has not increased significant since initial recognition. Transition to class 2 Significant increase in the credit risk
compared with initial recognition occurs when the Bank receives information which indicates that the credit risk has increased
significantly, or at latest when loans are more than 30 days past due. The Bank’s assessment of the date when a significant
increase in the credit risk occurs is based on historical, present and future expectations of the cash flow properties for the
financial instruments that are subject to impairment under IFRS 9. In the transition to class 3 defaulted the Bank uses its internal
definition of defaulted, which states that default occurs when the claim is more than 90 days overdue.
The Bank has taken measures to quality assure, maintain and update the model used for IFRS 9 purposes. The Bank has decided
not to use the simplification rules for impairment losses permitted in IFRS 9. In addition, generally expected future macro
conditions will affect the model’s assessment of impairment losses. The transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 will, at the date of
implementation, increase impairment losses by approximately NOK 170 million, and reduce equity by approximately NOK 127
million. Komplett Bank will not restate the comparative figures at the implementation date. The Bank intends to use the
transitional rules published by the EU that allow a gradual phasing-in of the effects of IFRS 9 on the Bank’s capital adequacy.
The transition to IFRS 9 will not have a significant impact on the Bank’s capital adequacy.
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IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers is a new standard that enters into force from no later than 1 January 2018
and will replace all existing standards on revenue recognition. The purpose of the new standard is to clarify the principles a
company applies when reporting to users of the financial statements on the type, the amount, the date, and the uncertainty
attaching to revenues and cash flows from contracts with customers. A common framework is established for recognition
(when revenue is to be recognised) and measurement of revenue (how much is to be recognised). The new standard will not
little or no effect on the Bank, since the standard focuses on clarification of recording complex and compound contracts as
income.
IFRS 16 - Leases is a new standard that enters into force from 1 January 2019 and replaces IAS 17 Leases. The new standard
removes the current distinction between operating and finance leases and is replaced by a model to be used for all leases with
individual specific exceptions. Assets are depreciated over the lease term, while the commitment is measured at amortised
cost. Leases will be treated as financial instruments included in the scope of application of IFRS 9. Leases are not regarded as
significant for the Bank.

1. Financial instruments
Financial instruments mainly cover loans to and loans and deposits with credit institutions, net loans to customers, certificates
and bonds, subordinated loans, senior unsecured bond and deposits from and debt to customers. Financial instruments are
recognised in the balance sheet on the date the Bank will become party to the instrument’s contractual terms. Financial assets
are derecognised when the Bank’s rights to receive cash flows from the asset cease. Financial liabilities are derecognised from
the date the rights to the contractual terms are fulfilled, expired or cancelled.

1a Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities covering deposits from and debt to customers, subordinated loans and senior unsecured bond are recognised
on initial recognition at fair value less any transaction costs on establishment. In subsequent periods, the liabilities are
measured at amortised cost in accordance with the effective interest method (internal rate of return), and the difference
between two periods is recognised through profit or loss under the item interest expenses.

1b. Financial assets
On initial recognition, financial assets are classed in one of the categories pursuant to the table below, depending on the type
of instrument and the purpose of holding the asset.

Category
according to
IAS 39
At fair value
through profit
or loss

Key financial
assets

Criterion for classification in the category and subsequent accounting
treatment

Certificates and
bonds

The category mainly applies to financial assets classed as held for trading. It will be
possible to class the instrument as held for trading where it has been acquired or
assumed with the purpose of a short-term sale.
The portfolio of certificates and bonds is classed in this category as these items are
controlled and valued on the basis of fair value in accordance with the Bank’s
established guidelines for investments in certificates and bonds.
On initial recognition of assets in this category, the assets are measured at fair
value. In subsequent periods, assets are measured at fair value, with any changes
in value being recognised in the accounting line net gains/losses on certificates and
bonds, and currency.
Income from interest on certificates and bonds is presented in the income
statement under interest income.
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Category
per IAS 39

Key financial
assets

Criterion for classification in the category and subsequent accounting
treatment

Loans and
receivables

Loans and deposits
with credit
institutions

Financial assets that are non-derivatives with fixed and determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market are placed in this category. On initial
recognition, the asset is measured at fair value, plus an addition for transaction fees
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset. In
subsequent periods, the asset is measured at amortised cost in accordance with
the effective interest method (internal rate of return). Amortised cost represents
the cost minus repayments of the principal sum, plus or minus an amount for
potential impairments or loss exposure. The effective interest rate is the rate that
discounts the loan’s contractual cash flows over the expected term to the loan’s
amortised cost at the date of establishment.

Net loans to
customers

Net loans to customers are essentially split into two categories; flexible lines of
credit and credit cards. All loans are valued at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The amortised cost includes the principal sum, charges and any
directly attributable costs.
Interest income in the category is recognised as income in accordance with the
effective interest method. The effective interest method also means that interest
from commitments that have been written down are recorded as income. For such
loans, the effective interest rate (the internal rate of return) at the date of
establishment is recognised in income, adjusted for changes in interest until the
date of impairment. Interest is recognised in income based on the loan’s written
down value.
Impairment losses are recognised where there is objective evidence that a loan or
group of loans is suffering an impairment. The impairment is calculated as the
difference between the balance sheet value and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted using the effective interest rate.
In the income statement, the accounting item losses on loans consists of changes
in realized losses and changes to loan impairments.
Losses on loans are based on a review of the Bank’s loan portfolio. The Bank
regularly carries out a valuation of losses on loans, and defaulted and doubtful
commitments.
The Bank considers a commitment to be defaulted on no later than 91 days after it
becomes overdue. Commitments exposed to losses where bankruptcy or debt
settlement proceedings have been commenced, legal collection executed, distraint
levied, attachment carried out or where other matters, such as liquidity or financial
strength failings or breaches of other clauses in loan agreements with the Bank are
also defined as defaulted.
In the event of bankruptcy, established composition, distraint proceedings not
being successful or through a decision enforceable in law, the Bank will recognise
commitments that are affected by such situations as realized losses. This also
applies in cases where the Bank has cancelled recovery or renounced parts of or
entire commitments. Realized losses are deducted from the balance sheet.
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2. Fixed assets
Fixed assets is recognised at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairments. The cost includes the purchase
price of the asset and other directly attributable costs, such as shipping expenses and non-refundable taxes and purchase fees.
Ordinary depreciation charges operating expenses and appears on a separate line in the income statement, together with
depreciation of intangible assets. Depreciation is based on the cost minus the expected residual value and allocated on a
straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the asset. The value of fixed assets is derecognised in the balance sheet on
disposal or when no further future economic benefits are expected from using the asset or on disposal.
In cases where there are indications of an impairment of non-current assets, the Bank will measure the non-current asset’s
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the net sales value and the value in use. If the recoverable
amount is lower than the carrying amount, the non-current asset is written down to the recoverable amount. The impairment
is reversed in cases where the criteria for recognising an impairment are no longer present. In no circumstances can the reversal
lead to the asset’s value exceeding the original cost price or the amount that would have been recognised in the balance sheet
if the asset had followed the original depreciation plan. Where the depreciation plan is changed, the effect is allocated over
the remaining depreciation period.

3. Other intangible assets
Intangible assets are recognised in the balance sheet to the extent that it is probable that financial benefits will accrue to the
Bank in the future and these expenses can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are recognised in the balance sheet at cost
minus accumulated amortisation and any impairments. Cost means the amount in cash or cash equivalents paid at the date of
acquisition or manufacture. Expenses relating to maintenance of software, systems etc. are recognised as expenses on an
ongoing basis. Assets with a limited lifetime are amortised using the straight-line method over the expected useful life from
the date when the asset is available for use. In the case of intangible assets with a limited useful life, where there are indications
of impairment, the Bank carries out measurements of the asset's recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of the net sales value and value in use. If the recoverable amount is lower than the amount entered, the intangible asset is
written down to the recoverable amount. Intangible assets are derecognised on disposal or when no further future economic
benefits are expected from using or disposing of the asset.
Expenses from in-house development are recognised in the balance sheet to the extent that a future financial benefit attached
to the development of an identifiable intangible asset can be identified and the expenses can be reliably measured. Otherwise,
these expenses are recognised as expenses on an ongoing basis.

4. Tax
4a. Deferred tax liabilities/deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities/deferred tax assets are recognised in line with IAS 12. Deferred tax liabilities/deferred tax assets are
calculated at a nominal rate on the basis of temporary differences that exist between the accounting and taxable values existing
at the end of the accounting period. Tax-increasing and tax-reducing temporary differences that reverse or could be reversed
in the same period are set off and recognised net in the balance sheet. The applicable rate of tax forming the basis for the
calculation of deferred tax liabilities/deferred tax assets is 25 %.
Deferred tax assets are recognised in the balance sheet to the extent it is probable that the asset will be realised at a future
date.

4b. Tax expense
The tax expense in the income statement includes both changes to deferred tax and tax payable for the period. The tax expense
also includes under- or over-provisions for tax payable relating to previous periods.

4c. Tax payable
Tax payable for the current present and previous periods, to the extent this has not been paid, is recognised as a liability. Tax
payable is tax calculated on the taxable profit for the year. The applicable rate of tax forming the basis for the calculation of
tax payable is 25 %.

5. Pensions
The Bank is subject to the Compulsory Occupational Pensions Act and has a scheme that satisfies the statutory requirements.
The Bank has a defined contribution scheme that applies to all employees. Contributions to the scheme are paid on an ongoing
basis and, for this reason, no provision is made for future pension liabilities at the end of the period.

6. Debt and other liabilities
Liabilities, including trade payables and other liabilities are recognised at amortised cost.
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7. Other receivables
Other receivables are recognised in the balance sheet at amortised cost. Loss impairments are recognised where there is
objective evidence that a loss has occurred.
Prepaid commission costs are recognised in the balance sheet and accrued over the expected term of the loan. If the loan
conditions are ended before the expected term, the remaining commission that has not been recognised as a cost will be
recognised as a cost in its entirety at the date of the repayment of the loan. The expected term of a loan is normally 36 months.

8. Currency
The Bank uses NOK as its presentation currency. Balance sheet items in foreign currency are converted to NOK using the
currency exchange rate at the balance sheet date. Items in foreign currency included in the income statement are converted
to NOK using the average exchange rate. Over the course of the year, the Bank did not receive any significant revenue in any
currency other than NOK and EUR. The Bank also did not incur any significant costs in any currency other than NOK and EUR.

9. Estimates
The estimation of valuation items and discretionary valuations is based on the Bank’s historical experience and likely
expectations of future events. The Bank regards loss provisions as described in item 1 as a central valuation item where
discretionary valuations also act as a basis. In this context, it should be noted that the introduction of IFRS 9 will lead to further
discretionary assessments.

10. Business areas
The Bank views its business as a collective business area. The business area is linked to unsecured consumer and leisure
financing and as of 31 December 2017 consisted of three loan products (credit card and loan, and POS solutions in cooperation
with the Komplett Group) and a deposit product. In 2017, all business was directed at the Norwegian and Finnish markets and
there was no significant differentiation connected with regular monitoring, management and controls in the Bank’s
geographical business areas. The management of the Bank also calls for uniform reporting of business areas.

11. Statement of cash flow
The statement of cash flow has been prepared according to the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents consist of bank
deposits.

12. Share-based remuneration
Options value for the granted options are established based on the full market value calculated at the grant date of using
observed trading prices at the grant date and Black and Scholes's option pricing model. Risk-free interest, using 5-year
government bonds, is used as a prerequisite in the calculation. The fixed price for exercising the positions is NOK 1 for all
outstanding options. In the case of options granted in 2015 and later, there is also a variable price for exercising the positions,
which is equivalent to the employer’s contribution at the date of exercise. The value of granted and vested options is recognised
in other invested equity.
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NOTE 2: TRANSITION FROM NGAAP TO IFRS
For the purposes of preparing this financial statement, the Bank has applied IFRS retrospectively. The most recent versions of
IFRS standards have been applied consistently during the entire period presented.
The tables below show the reconciliation between the official financial statements presented according to NGAAP and new
financial statements presented according to IFRS. The “IFRS adjustment” column shows the differences in the accounting
treatment between NGAAP and IFRS.
Perpetual bond funds are classed as subordinate loan capital (debt) according to previous accounting principles (NGAAP).
According to IFRS, perpetual bond funds do not fulfil the requirements for financial liabilities in accordance with IAS 32 and are
classed as equity (tier 1 capital). In the NGAAP financial statements, interest payments linked to perpetual bond funds are
presented under the accounting line Interest expenses with an associated tax effect presented on the accounting line Tax
expenses. Under IFRS, interest costs are recognised directly in equity.
In addition, there is a minor adjustment based on all the Bank’s certificates and bonds being measured at fair value according
to IFRS.
Agent commission appears as a direct transaction cost when issuing loans. Establishment fees appear as a fee when establishing
loan conditions. Both of these are included in the amortised cost of loans and included as components when calculating
effective interest.
The transition to IFRS has had a limited effect, as the company has, as a result of regulations on accounting treatment of loans
and guarantees in financial undertakings, already applied IAS 39 for the treatment of a number of financial instruments.
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Reconciliation between NGAAP and IFRS

Amounts in NOK million

Interest income

IFRS

IFRS

2017

2016

IFRS
adjustment
-

NGAAP
2016

756.2

421.9

86.5

50.3

-2.8

53.0

669.8

371.6

2.8

368.9

Income commissions and fees

89.1

46.5

-

46.5

Expenses commissions and fees

52.0

28.9

-

28.9

Net commissions and fees

37.0

17.6

-

17.6

2.5

2.0

Interest expenses
Net interest income

Net gains / losses (-) on certificates and bonds, and currency
Salary and other personnel expenses

0.6

421.9

1.4

69.0

44.1

-

44.1

General administrative expenses

115.3

65.1

-

65.1

Direct marketing expenses

79.9

49.5

-

49.5

Total salary and admin. expenses

184.3

109.2

-

109.2

Ordinary depreciation

14.3

6.3

-

6.3

Other expenses

23.0

13.1

-

13.1

Total operating expenses excl. lossses on loans

221.7

128.6

-

128.6

Losses on loans

118.7

85.7

-

Pre-tax operating profit

368.8

176.9

3.3

95.0

47.7

0.8

46.9

273.8

129.2

2.5

126.7

Tax expenses
Profit after tax

Amounts in NOK million

85.7
173.6

IFRS
IFRS
NGAAP
IFRS
31.12.2017 31.12.2016 adjustment 31.12.2016

IFRS
NGAAP
IFRS
01.01.2016 adjustment 01.01.2016

Assets
Loans and deposits with credit institutions

442.3

498.8

Net loans to customers

5,461.0

3,322.0

Certificates and bonds

381.6

310.0

Other intangible assets

56.8

26.0

-

Deferred tax assets

0.4

0.0

Fixed assets

1.0

Other receivables
Total assets

498.8

251.7

29.9

-

3,292.1

1,601.1

17.8

-

1,583.3

0.4

309.5

220.0

-0.1

220.1

26.0

22.3

-

0.0

5.9

0.0

0.6

-

0.6

0.4

-

0.4

16.9

0.8

-48.0

48.8

0.2

-28.9

29.1

6,359.9

4,158.1

-17.7

4,175.9

2,101.5

-11.2

2,112.7

4,330.5

3,313.0

-

3,313.0

1,751.1

-

1,751.1

-

251.7

22.3
5.9

Equity and liabilities
Deposits from and debt to customers

399.3

-

-

-

-

-

-

Other debt

76.9

23.5

-18.2

41.7

16.1

-11.1

27.2

Subordinated loans

64.6

64.1

-45.0

109.1

-

-

-

Tax payable

87.0

39.2

0.1

39.1

-

-

4,958.2

3,439.9

-63.1

3,502.9

1,767.2

Share capital

171.4

148.4

-

148.4

135.5

-

135.5

Share premium reserve

771.9

392.6

-

392.6

205.8

-

205.8

Tier 1 capital

44.6

45.0

45.0

-

-

-

-

Other paid-in equity

35.5

24.9

-

24.9

12.8

-

12.8

Senior unsecured bond

Total liabilities

-11.1

1,778.3

378.4

107.3

0.3

107.0

-19.8

-0.0

-19.7

Total equity

1,401.7

718.3

45.3

672.9

334.3

-0.0

334.4

Total equity and liabilities

6,359.9

4,158.1

-17.7

4,175.9

2,101.5

-11.2

2,112.7

Retained earnings
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NOTE 3: NET LOANS TO CUSTOMERS
Loans to customers
Gross loans consumer financing
Gross loans credit cards
Gross lending
Impairment of loans
Net loans from customers

31.12.2017
4,732.1
863.7
5,595.8
134.9
5,461.0

31.12.2016
2,938.4
504.2
3,442.6
120.6
3,322.0

01.01.2016
1,613.1
24.3
1,637.3
36.2
1,601.1

Defaults and losses
Gross defaulted loans
Individual impairment of loans
Impairment on groups of loans
Net defaulted loans

31.12.2017
399.7
123.9
11.0
264.8

31.12.2016
241.5
104.3
16.3
120.9

01.01.2016
61.7
27.9
8.3
25.4

Realized losses
Realized losses in the period

31.12.2017
1.8

31.12.2016
1.4

01.01.2016
0.7

Individual impairment of loans
Individual impairment of loans at beginning of period
+/- Individual impairment of loans in the period
Individual impairment of loans

2017
104.3
19.6
123.9

2016
27.9
76.3
104.3

2015
3.2
24.7
27.9

Impairment on groups of loans
Impairment on groups of loans at beginning of period
+/- Impairment on groups of loans in the period
Impairment on groups of loans

2017
16.3
-5.3
11.0

2016
8.3
8.0
16.3

2015
1.0
7.3
8.3

100 % of loans is to private customer as at 31 December 2017 (100 % as at 31 December 2016 and 100 % as at 1 January 2016).
The Bank has not issued any guarantees as at 31 December 2017 (none as at 31 December 2016 and none as at 1 January
2016).
Impairments are recognised based on the existence of objective indications of impairment as a result of one or more events
that have taken place after the initial recognition of the asset and that have an effect on the estimated future cash flows from
the financial asset. Of the Bank’s financial assets, only net loans to customers have, in the opinion of the Bank, been impaired
since initial recognition and consequently, no impairments have been recognised for other financial assets.
Ageing of loans
Loans not past due
Past due 1 - 30 days
Past due 31 - 60 days
Past due 61 - 90 days
Past due 91+ days
Total

31.12.2017
3,927.6
916.4
263.8
100.7
387.4
5,595.8

31.12.2016
2,619.6
481.6
69.7
48.4
223.3
3,442.6

01.01.2016
1,342.0
183.3
41.6
11.2
59.2
1,637.3

Past due engagements, not impaired
Past due engagements 1 - 30 days
Past due engagements 31 - 60 days
Past due engagements 61 - 90 days
Total

31.12.2017
916.4
263.8
100.2
1,280.3

31.12.2016
481.6
69.5
47.5
598.6

01.01.2016
183.3
41.6
11.1
236.1
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Credit risk in the loan balance split by risk class
All loan customers are classed using a separate risk class. Risk class at 31 December 2017 (and 31 December 2016 and 1 January
2016) are assessed on the basis of customer behaviour (in customer relationship of a minimum of 12 months) or an application
score.
Risk classes
Low
Medium
High
Defaulted loans
Total

31.12.2017
27 %
23 %
43 %
7%
100 %

31.12.2016
33 %
23 %
37 %
6%
100 %

01.01.2016
27 %
29 %
40 %
4%
100 %

31.12.2017
563.1
88.7
269.8
81.1
177.0
438.3
217.3
235.1
92.4
160.3
586.7
320.4
401.8
66.2
222.1
147.6
144.9
134.7
261.5
4,609.1
986.8
5,595.8

31.12.2016
416.4
68.5
202.7
61.5
132.7
326.2
162.5
70.7
170.6
118.1
443.4
243.5
300.7
45.8
165.8
111.9
104.8
100.8
195.9
3,442.6
3,442.6

01.01.2016
201.4
31.3
98.5
28.4
61.0
147.9
68.6
32.1
80.7
51.1
244.4
112.2
140.5
25.9
77.3
52.2
50.3
46.2
87.4
1,637.3
1,637.3

Geographical distribution of loans

Akershus
Aust-Agder
Buskerud
Finnmark
Hedmark
Hordaland
Møre og Romsdal
Nord-Trøndelag
Nordland
Oppland
Oslo
Østfold
Rogaland
Sogn og Fjordane
Sør-Trøndelag
Telemark
Troms
Vest-Agder
Vestfold
Norway
Finland
Total

Information on products and geographical distributions
Information on income, loans and impairment for different products that the Bank offers is shown below
Consumer loans
Income per product
Interest income
Income commissions and fees
Total

Credit cards

Norway *
534.4

Finland

Norway

Total

68.7

149.0

752.1

42.2

7.0

39.9

89.1

576.6

75.7

188.9

841.2

Consumer loans
Loans per product
Net loans
Total

Credit cards

Group

Norway *
3,661.3

Finland

Norway

impairment

Total

973.3

837.3

-11.0

5,461.0

3,661.3

973.3

837.3

-11.0

5,461.0

Consumer loans
Impairment per product
Impairment
Total

Credit cards

Norway *
84.1

Finland

Norway

Group

Total

13.4

26.4

11.0

134.9

84.1

13.4

26.4

11.0

134.9

* Includes POS Finance
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NOTE 4: LOANS AND DEPOSITS WITH CREDIT INSTITUTIONS
31.12.2017

31.12.2016

01.01.2016

442.3

498.8

251.7

1.4
16.2
2.8

1.4
8.6
1.9

0.3
2.5
0.5

Risk weight

Book value

Fair value

0%
10 %

99.9
281.7
381.6

99.9
281.7
381.6

Risk weight

Book value

Fair value

0%
10 %

50.0
260.0
310.0

50.0
260.0
310.0

Risk weight

Book value

Fair value

0%
10 %

20.2
199.8
220.0

20.2
199.8
220.0

Deposits with credit institutions
of which bound funds constitute;
Client funds
Other bound funds
Bound tax withholding funds

NOTE 5: CERTIFICATES AND BONDS
The bank's securities are distributed as follows as at
31.12.2017:
Government certificates
Bonds
Total
Sertifikater, obligasjoner og andre rentebærende verdipapirer
The bank's securities are distributed as follows as at
31.12.2016:
Government certificates
Bonds
Total
Sertifikater, obligasjoner og andre rentebærende verdipapirer
The bank's securities are distributed as follows as at
01.01.2016:
Government certificates
Bonds
Total

As at 31 December 2017, 100 % (82.3 % as at 31 December 2016 and 68.3 % as at 1 January 2016) of the balance sheet value
was linked to bonds listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange. The remaining percentage for previous periods was listed at Nordic
ABM. In 2017, the Bank achieved an effective weighted interest income rate of 1.04 % (1.12 % in 2016 and 1.41 % in 2015).
This is calculated on the basis of actual interest income per month divided by the average monthly balance.
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NOTE 6: INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND FIXED ASSETS
Type of non-current asset
Accumulated historical cost at 01.01.2016
Additions
Disposals
Historical cost at 31.12.2016

Fixtures and fittings
0.7
0.4
1.1

Office machines
0.2
0.2

Intangible assets
28.5
10.1
38.6

Total
29.4
10.5
39.9

Accumulated depreciations at 01.01.2016
Annual depreciations
Accumulated depreciations at 31.12.2016
Book value at 31.12.2016

0.4
0.1
0.6
0.5

0.2
0.1
0.2
0.0

6.1
6.4
12.5
26.0

6.7
6.6
13.3
26.5

Accumulated historical cost at 01.01.2017
Additions
Disposals
Historical cost at 31.12.2017

1.1
0.4
1.5

0.2
0.2
0.5

38.6
44.9
83.4

39.9
45.5
85.4

Accumulated depreciations at 01.01.2017
Annual depreciations
Accumulated depreciations at 31.12.2017
Book value at 31.12.2017

0.6
0.2
0.7
0.8

0.2
0.0
0.3
0.2

12.5
14.1
26.7
56.8

13.3
14.3
27.6
57.8

5 years

3 years

5 years

Economic life

Other intangible assets and fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their lifetime. Intangible assets consist to
a high degree of IT systems and rights acquired and developed in-house. No impairments have been recognised for other
intangible assets or fixed assets either in the previous or current period.

NOTE 7: SHAREHOLDERS
The face value of the company’s shares is NOK 1.00. All shares have the same share class and voting rights. In 2014, 9,900,000
independent subscription rights were issued to the company's existing shareholders. The rights are freely tradable. They have
a term of up to March 2019 and a subscription price of NOK 2.50 per share. In addition, please refer to Note 15 concerning the
Bank’s incentive programme.
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20 largest shareholders
31.12.2017
Komplett AS *
State Street Bank And Trust Comp
Canica Invest AS *
Alfab Holding AS
Macama AS
Sanden AS
Morgan Stanley & Co. Int. Plc.
Fondsavanse AS
Directmarketing Invest AS
Dingja Invest AS
Tanja AS
Tvenge
State Street Bank And Trust Comp
Pershing Llc
Tannreg AS
Aweco AS
Norda ASA
Svejk Invest AS
Seb Prime Solutions Sissener Canopus
Sniptind Invest AS
Total 20 largest shareholders
Other shareholders
Total

Number of shares Ownership in % Shareholder structure Country
26,157,285
10,783,416
8,000,000
6,786,183
4,912,668
4,706,334
4,419,947
4,073,815
3,415,043
3,369,961
2,547,884
2,500,000
2,492,000
2,400,000
2,328,503
2,125,465
2,108,020
2,042,345
2,000,000
1,926,024
99,094,893
72,285,728
171,380,621

15.3 %
6.3 %
4.7 %
4.0 %
2.9 %
2.7 %
2.6 %
2.4 %
2.0 %
2.0 %
1.5 %
1.5 %
1.5 %
1.4 %
1.4 %
1.2 %
1.2 %
1.2 %
1.2 %
1.1 %
57.8 %
42.2 %
100.0 %

NOM

NOM

NOM
NOM

NOR
USA
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
GBR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
USA
USA
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
LUX
NOR

* Canica Invest AS owns 96.1 % of total shares in Komplett AS, and they are together holding 34,157,285 of the
shares in Komplett Bank ASA which equals to a total ownership of 19.9 %. Please refer to note 22 for more
information on transfer of shares subsequent to the reporting date.

31.12.2016
Komplett AS
Macama AS
Perm Invest AS
State Street Bank An S/A Ssb Client
Alfab Holding AS
Sanden AS
Fondsavanse AS
Dingja Invest AS
Aweco Invest AS
Directmarketing Invest AS
Svejk Invest AS
Ivar S Løge AS
Khaya AS
Tannreg AS
Aars AS
Ursulf AS
Sniptind Invest AS
Mp Pensjon Pk
Laboremus Industrier AS
Tjk Invest AS
Total 20 largest shareholders
Other shareholders
Total

Number of shares Ownership in % Shareholder structure Country
29,577,591
12,939,883
12,252,383
9,885,122
7,973,283
7,477,154
4,413,900
4,369,961
4,258,574
3,275,043
3,042,345
3,000,000
1,911,403
1,871,340
1,562,500
1,545,000
1,541,423
1,501,688
1,439,534
1,345,651
115,183,778
33,185,348
148,369,126

19.9 %
8.7 %
8.3 %
6.7 %
5.4 %
5.0 %
3.0 %
2.9 %
2.9 %
2.2 %
2.1 %
2.0 %
1.3 %
1.3 %
1.1 %
1.0 %
1.0 %
1.0 %
1.0 %
0.9 %
77.6 %
22.4 %
100.0 %
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NOM

NOR
NOR
NOR
USA
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR

01.01.2016

Number of shares Ownership in % Shareholder structure Country

Komplett AS
Macama AS
Perm Invest AS
State Street Bank & S/A Ssb Client
Fondsavanse AS
Sundt AS
Alfab Holding AS
Sanden AS
Aweco Invest AS
Dingja Invest AS
Ivar S Løge AS
Directmarketing Invest AS
Svejk Invest AS
Mp Pensjon Pk
Høgset Holding AS
Khaya AS
Ursulf AS
Hava Financials AS
Contribute AS
Tanja AS
Total 20 largest shareholders
Other shareholders
Total

27,079,990
11,847,209
11,847,209
9,050,399
8,609,332
7,446,801
7,300,000
6,845,904
5,866,948
4,000,951
4,000,000
2,998,491
2,823,595
2,112,853
1,835,186
1,750,000
1,420,000
1,260,786
1,205,000
900,000
120,200,654
15,264,346
135,465,000

20.0 %
8.7 %
8.7 %
6.7 %
6.4 %
5.5 %
5.4 %
5.1 %
4.3 %
3.0 %
3.0 %
2.2 %
2.1 %
1.6 %
1.4 %
1.3 %
1.0 %
0.9 %
0.9 %
0.7 %
88.7 %
11.3 %
100.0 %

NOR
NOR
NOR
USA
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR
NOR

NOM

NOTE 8: SPECIFICATION OF DEBT AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Other receivables consist of
Other receivables
Total other receivables

31.12.2017
16.9
16.9

31.12.2016
0.8
0.8

01.01.2016
0.2
0.2

Other debt consist of
Payables to suppliers
Other liablilities
Total other debt

31.12.2017
28.0
48.9
76.9

31.12.2016
3.0
20.6
23.5

01.01.2016
1.9
14.2
16.1

Subordinated loans consist of
Subordinated loans (ISIN NO 0010757768) *
3 months NIBOR + 5,0 %
Total subordinated loans

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

01.01.2016

64.6

64.1

-

64.6

64.1

-

Senior unsecured bond consist of
Senior unsecured bond (ISIN NO 0010800972) **
3 months NIBOR + 1,55 %
Total senior unsecured bond

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

01.01.2016

399.3

-

-

399.3

-

-

* The change from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016 for subordinated loans entered in the balance sheet is linked in its
entirety to cash flow adjustments and applies to the uptake of subordinated loan. The change from 31 January 2016 to 31
December 2017 relates in its entirety to amortisation of transaction fees that are recognised in the accounting line “Interest
expenses”.
** The change from 31 December 2016 to 31 December 2017 for senior unsecured bond recognised in the balance sheet
relates in its entirety to cash flow adjustments and applies to the uptake of senior unsecured bond.
As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the Bank had no unused overdraft facilities or other drawing rights.
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All deposits from the Bank’s customers come from private individuals. The Bank’s average (weighted) offered interest rate in
2017 was 1.89 % (1.85 % for 2016). The calculation is based on actual interest costs and average deposit balances per month.
Interest rates for deposits and loans are variable. As at 31 December 2017, the Bank did not offer fixed-interest deposits.

NOTE 9: ITEMS NOT RECOGNISED IN THE BALANCE SHEET
There was no known information about significant contingent liabilities or contingent assets as at 31 December 2017 (or 31
December 2016 and 1 January 2016) other than those referred to in the annual reports. Unused limits and credit facilities as
at 31 December 2017 amounted to NOK 1,796.5 million (NOK 962.9 million as at 31 December 2016 and NOK 330.2 million as
at 1 January 2016). Approved and offered loans not yet paid out amounted to NOK 568.3 million as at 31 December 2017 (NOK
229.7 million as at 31 December 2016 and NOK 112.1 million as at 1 January 2016).

NOTE 10: CAPITAL ADEQUACY

Regulatory capital
Share capital
Share premium
Retained earnings and other paid-in equity
Deductions:
Deferred tax assets and other intangible assets
Common equity Tier 1
Tier 1 capital
Core capital
Supplemental capital
Total capital

31.12.2017
171.4
771.9
413.9

31.12.2016
148.4
392.6
132.3

01.01.2016
135.5
205.8
-7.0

57.2
1,299.9
44.6
1,344.5
64.6
1,409.1

26.0
647.2
45.0
692.2
64.1
756.3

28.2
306.1
306.1
306.1

31.12.2017
88.5
4,161.7
28.2
17.9
768.3
5,064.7

31.12.2016
99.8
2,581.9
26.0
1.3
489.8
3,198.7

01.01.2016
50.3
1,228.0
20.0
0.6
254.9
1,553.8

25.7 %
26.5 %
27.8 %

20.2 %
21.6 %
23.6 %

19.7 %
19.7 %
19.7 %

Calculation basis:
Credit risk
Loans and deposits with credit institutions
Loans to customers
Certificate and bonds
Other assets
Operational risk
Total calculation basis

Common equity tier 1 (%)
Core capital (%)
Total Capital (%)

Changes in capital adequacy for 1 January 2016 and 31 December 2017, compared with the 2016 annual report are attributable
to the transition to IFRS.
The Bank had a liquidity capital ratio (LCR) of 277 % as at 31 December 2017 and a net stable funding ratio (NSFR) of 159 %.
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NOTE 11: SPECIFICATION OF INTEREST AND COMMISSION AND FEES
Interest income
Interest income from loans to customers
Interest from certificates and bonds
Interest income from loans and deposits with credit
institutions
Total interest income

2017
752.1
3.5

2016
417.7
3.3

2015
156.6
3.4

0.6

0.9

1.0

756.2

421.9

161.0

Interest expenses
Interest expense from deposit from customers
Interest expense from subordinated loans and senior
unsecured bond
Other interest expenses
Total interest expenses

2017
76.0

2016
45.7

2015
27.1

8.6

4.0

-

1.8
86.5

0.7
50.3

0.1
27.2

Income commissions and fees
Insurance services
Fees
Total income commisions and fees

2017
46.3
42.8
89.1

2016
20.5
26.0
46.5

2015
3.3
9.0
12.3

Expenses commissions and fees
Agent provision
Other expenses commissions and fees
Total expenses commissions and fees

2017
32.3
19.8
52.0

2016
18.1
10.8
28.9

2015
9.1
1.0
10.1

NOTE 12: PAYMENTS TO EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION TO TRUSTEES
Salaries and other personell expenses

2017

2016

2015

Salaries

43.2

28.5

21.6

Social security tax

5.7

3.5

2.2

Pension premiums

2.6

1.4

0.8
0.7

Social benefits

2.2

1.8

Other wage costs*

15.2

8.8

4.6

Total

69.0

44.1

30.0

*Applies to costs of hired manpower.
No security was provided to any of the Bank’s employees or any of their related parties in 2017. Some employees have credit
card debts to the Bank as at 31 December 2017. All employees that have the Bank’s credit card have these with the ordinary
terms and conditions.
All permanent employees, a total of 62 people as at 31 December 2017, are covered by the Bank’s pension scheme. The scheme
is a defined-contribution scheme and is covered by Storebrand. The Bank is obliged to have an occupational pension scheme
in accordance with the Compulsory Occupational Pension Scheme Act. The scheme satisfies the requirements in the act.
Please refer to Note 15 for information on variable remuneration.
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Fees paid to the Board of Directors

2017

2016

2015

Live Haukvik (chairman)

0.2

0.2

0.2

Alexander Kopp (board member)

0.2

0.2

0.1

Bodil Palma Hollingsæter (board member)

0.2

0.2

0.1

Casper Wakefield (board member)

0.2

0.2

0.1

Supervisory Board

0.0

0.0

0.1

Control Committee

0.0

0.1

0.1

Total fees paid to the Board of Directors

0.7

0.7

0.6

Auditor fees (incl. VAT)

2017

2016

2015

Statutory auditing

0.6

0.4

0.4

Other certification services

1.0

0.1

0.1

Other services

0.1

0.1

0.0

Total

1.7

0.6

0.5

Information about the company’s remuneration scheme
The Regulation on Remuneration Schemes in Financial Institutions etc., states that the company shall publish information
regarding the main principles for establishing remuneration, criteria for establishing any variable remuneration and
quantitative information about remuneration to senior employees, to employees with duties of considerable importance for
the company’s exposure to risk, to employees with control duties and staff representatives with equivalent remuneration. The
information below in this note, including the Board’s declaration on the establishment of salaries and other remuneration
constitutes this kind of information. The declaration and guidelines apply in relation to all employees, including the CEO and
other senior employees.
For 2017:
Wages and remunerations to key
personell
Chief Executive Officer

Fixed salary
Value of share
Salary
options*
2.3
-

Other remunerations
Variable
Other
salary** remunerations
0.4
0.0

Pension

Total

0.1

2.8

Chief Financial Officer

1.4

-

0.3

0.0

0.1

1.8

Chief Credit Risk Officer

1.5

-

0.3

0.0

0.1

1.9

Chief Operations Officer

1.3

0.1

0.3

0.0

0.1

1.8

Chief Marketing and Information Officer
Director Risk Control, Compliance and
Vendor Management
Chief Strategy Officer

1.3

0.1

0.3

0.0

0.1

1.9

1.4

-

0.3

0.0

0.1

1.8

1.5

-

0.3

0.0

0.1

1.8

0.3

2.2

0.1

0.6

13.8

Total

10.7

For 2016:
Wages and remunerations to key
personell
Chief Executive Officer

Fixed salary
Value of share
Salary
options*
1.5
0.7

Other remunerations
Variable
Other
salary** remunerations
0.4
0.0

Pension

Total

0.1

2.6

Chief Financial Officer

1.1

0.3

0.3

0.0

0.1

1.7

Chief Credit Risk Officer

1.1

0.4

0.3

0.0

0.1

1.9

Chief Operations Officer

1.1

0.3

0.3

0.0

0.1

1.7

Chief Marketing and Information Officer
Director Risk Control, Compliance and
Vendor Management
Chief Strategy Officer

1.0

0.4

0.3

0.0

0.1

1.7

1.0

0.4

0.2

0.0

0.1

1.7

0.2

1.0

0.1

0.0

0.1

1.4

Total

6.9

3.6

1.7

0.1

0.5

12.8
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For 2015:
Wages and remunerations to key
personell
Chief Executive Officer

Fixed salary
Value of share
Salary
options*
1.6
0.6

Other remunerations
Variable
Other
salary** remunerations
0.4
0.0

Pension

Total

0.1

2.6

Chief Financial Officer

1.1

0.3

0.2

0.0

0.1

1.7

Chief Credit Risk Officer

1.1

0.5

0.3

0.0

0.1

1.9

Chief Operations Officer

1.1

0.3

0.2

0.0

0.1

1.7

Chief Marketing and Information Officer
Director Risk Control, Compliance and
Vendor Management
Chief Strategy Officer

1.0

0.4

0.2

0.0

0.1

1.7

0.7

0.2

-

0.0

0.0

1.0

-

0.8

-

0.0

0.0

0.9

Total

6.5

3.1

1.4

0.1

0.4

11.5

*The stated value is based on market value at the grant date.
**The stated value relates to the value of granted bonus options vested on the basis of the previous year’s work efforts. Only
some of the value stated in this note applies to vested options. See Note 15 for further details.
There are no agreements on providing special payment to senior employees when leaving or changing conditions of
employment. Please also refer also to Note 15 regarding variable remuneration and the share option programme for
employees, which also covers senior employees.
The Board will present guidelines for compensation for agreement at the AGM in accordance with paragraph 6-16a of the
Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act:
The Board’s declaration on the determination of salaries and other remuneration to senior employees
The company’s collective remuneration schemes shall promote behaviour based on the desired culture in relation to
performance and result orientation. The collective remuneration shall help the company to attract and retain employees with
the desired profile with regard to personal qualities, competence and experience. The remuneration scheme shall contribute
to promoting and providing incentives for good management and control of the company’s risks, prevent the taking of risks
that are too high and contribute to avoiding conflicts of interest.
A.

Guidelines for the coming accounting year

The company’s remuneration schemes is adapted within the provisions that are always in accordance with Chapter 15 of the
act on The Financial Institutions and Financial Groups, including regulations and other applicable regulations for bank
remuneration schemes.
The Board establishes the remuneration for the CEO. The CEO establishes the remuneration for other senior employees in
consultation with the Chairman. The CEO establishes remuneration for other employees. Benefits in kind that are not
significant in relation to fixed salary are established for all employees by the CEO. The company’s management team are
regarded as senior employees.
Remuneration for all employees consists of fixed salary, benefits in kind, variable remuneration and pension and insurance
schemes.
In the case of senior employees and key personnel, remuneration is established based on a holistic assessment, where the
main weighting of the variable component of the remuneration is based on results achieved, asset-liability management
(including financial strength and liquidity management), the implementation of the company's strategic plan and compliance
with accepted limits for risk tolerance. In the assessment, general achievement of targets, developments over time and the
company’s long-term interests shall be taken in to account. The overall assessment shall be based on both quantitative and
qualitative conditions. The specific conditions emphasised shall be adapted to the individual’s function and area of
responsibility. The assessment shall be based on a combination of an assessment of the person in question, the business unit
in question and the company as a whole. When measuring results, the risk to the company and costs connected with capital
and liquidity shall be taken into consideration. The basis for variable remuneration linked to the company's results shall be a
period of at least two years for these employees.
The fixed salary shall be assessed at least annually and, among other things, established on the basis of salary trends in society
in general and the financial industry in particular.
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The company’s variable remuneration schemes shall have the purpose of rewarding behaviour and influencing culture so as
to ensure the creation of long-term values and sensible risk-taking. The Board carries out an annual assessment of the
maximum level of variable remuneration. In addition, one-off remuneration may be used if such is deemed necessary in
order to attract or retain employees.
Benefits in kind may also be provided in line with general practice and in order to promote physical activity among employees.
Benefits in kind shall not be significant in relation to fixed salary.
There is no agreed pay after termination of employment or severance pay in the event of any employee’s conditions of
employment ending.
All employees are covered by a defined-contribution pension scheme with 6 % of salary from 1-7 times the National Insurance
Scheme’s basic amount (G) and 12 % of salary from 7-12 G. No other pension schemes have been agreed for any employee.
B. Binding guidelines for remuneration in the form of shares, subscription rights, options etc. for the coming year
Agreements that up to 33 % of fixed salary will be honoured in the form of shares or share-based instruments in return for an
equivalent reduction being made in the ordinary salary payment may be entered into or amended.
Half of the variable salaries for senior employees shall be provided in the form of share options with a lock-in period (deferred
and conditional) so that 1/3 are released annually over a three-year period with a possibility to be reduced if earnings in the
company or subsequent results indicate this.
One-off remuneration may be share-option-based.
Share options granted under these schemes shall be at the full market value. The Board establishes more detailed guidelines
and criteria for these schemes.
C. Description of the management salary policy in the previous accounting year
The company has followed the guidelines that were discussed at the AGM in 2017.
D.

Report on the effects on the company and shareholders of new or changed agreements on remuneration over and
above fixed salary
The Board is of the opinion that the agreements on remuneration that have been continued, entered into or amended in 2017
have contributed to ensuring the company has a supply of employees with the desired profile and that the agreements benefit
the company and shareholders."

Shares owned* by senior employees and members of the Board

Shares owned* by the Management or
by the Board of Directors
Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer
Chief Credit Risk Officer
Chief Operations Officer
Chief Marketing and Information Officer
Chief Strategy Officer
Director Risk Control, Compliance and
Vendor Management
Board of Directors**
Related parties to all mentioned above
Total

Raimond Pettersen
Kristian Sjuve
Tommy Österlund
Niels Harald Ursin-Holm
Steffen Ryengen
Jan Haglund

31.12.2017
Number of Ownership
shares
in %
6,786,183
3.96 %
2,042,345
1.19 %
1,561,403
0.91 %
1,045,000
0.61 %
911,250
0.53 %
469,215
0.27 %

31.12.2016
Number of Ownership
shares
in %
7,973,283
5.37 %
3,042,345
2.05 %
1,911,403
1.29 %
1,545,000
1.04 %
1,311,250
0.88 %
739,215
0.50 %

31.12.2015
Number of Ownership
shares
in %
7,300,000
5.39 %
2,823,595
2.08 %
1,750,000
1.29 %
1,420,000
1.05 %
1,205,000
0.89 %
615,794
0.45 %

Wilhelm B. Thomassen

3,369,961

4,369,961

4,000,951

2.95 %

0.90 % 1,234,943
0.03 %
40,000
15.01 % 20,390,283

0.91 %
0.03 %
15.05 %

Name

-

604,727
16,790,084

1.97 %

0.35 % 1,339,962
0.00 %
43,689
9.80 % 22,276,108

2.95 %

*Either owned directly or through ownership of a legal company, including shares owned indirectly through companies where
the person in questions controls the majority of shares.
** The decrease in the number of shares owned by board members from 31 December 2016 to 31 December 2017 is due to a
change in the composition of the Board of Directors.
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NOTE 13: SPECIFICATION OF COSTS
Specification of general administrative expenses
Direct marketing expenses
IT-expenses
Other general administrative expenses
Total general administrative expenses

Specification of other operating expenses
Rental expenses
Insurance
Other consultants
Other costs
External audit and related services
Total other operating expenses
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2017
79.9
16.0
19.4
115.3

2016
49.5
10.9
4.7
65.1

2015
30.3
7.6
2.5
40.4

2017
2.2
0.7
8.4
9.9
1.8
23.0

2016
1.9
0.5
7.9
2.1
0.6
13.1

2015
1.1
0.3
4.6
0.6
0.5
7.1

NOTE 14: TAX
Tax expense
Profit before tax
Effect of temporary differences not affecting tax payable
Permanent differences
Basis for tax expense
Tax rate
Tax expense
Over-provisions for tax payable relating to previous periods
Under-provisions for tax payable relating to previous periods
Total tax expense

2017
368.8
0.5
11.3
380.6
25 %
95.2
0.2
95.0

2016
176.9
12.2
189.1
25 %
47.3
0.5
47.7

Calculations of taxable income:
Profit before tax

2017
368.8

2016
176.9

11.3

12.2

-34.1
2.0
348.1
25 %
87.0

-10.4
-21.7
0.1
157.0
25 %
39.2

2017
-0.0
-0.0

2016
-0.1
-0.1

-2.0
-2.0
-2.0

-0.1

Change in differences which affect tax payable

-2.0

-0.1

Deferred tax of assets not affecting tax payable
Securities and bonds measured at fair value
Basis for deferred tax assets
Tax rate
Deferred tax assets

2017
0.5
-1.6
25 %
-0.4

2016
-0.1
25 %
-0.0

Explanation why the tax expense for the year does not amount to
25% of profit before tax

2017

2016

368.8
92.2

176.9
44.2

2.8

3.0

0.1
-0.2
95.0

0.5
47.7

Permanent differences recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income
Permanent differences recognised in equity
Change in losses to be carried forward
Change in temporary differences which affect tax payable
Basis for tax payable
Tax rate
Tax payable

Deferred tax of assets which affect tax payable
Fixed assets
Deferred tax of assets which affect tax payable
Deferred tax of liabilities which affect tax payable
Provisions
Deferred tax of liabilities which affect tax payable
Net differences which affect tax payable

Profit before tax
25 % of profit before tax
25% of permanent differences recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income
25% effect of temporary differences not affecting tax payable
Changee in provisions for tax payable relating to previous periods
Calculated tax expense
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NOTE 15: SHARE OPTION PROGRAMME
The Bank has in 2017 and previous periods established a share option programme for all employees. The scheme applies to
both employee’s fixed and any variable salary.
The option value for the granted options is established based on the full market value calculated at the grant date using
observed trading prices at the grant date and Black and Scholes's option pricing model. Risk-free interest, using 5-year
government bonds, is used as a prerequisite in the calculation. The fixed price for exercising the positions is NOK 1 for all
outstanding options. In the case of options granted in 2015 and later, there is also a variable price for exercising the positions,
which is equivalent to the social security tax at the date of exercise. The value of granted and vested options is recognised in
other paid-in equity.
The Bank has a bonus programme for all employees assessed as satisfying the requirements for variable remuneration
schemes. The company’s variable salaries related to share options releases the options in accordance with Chapter 15 of the
Act on financial institutions and financial groups, with regulations and other applicable regulations for bank remuneration
schemes.

Overview of granted, exercised and outstanding options
Outstanding options
Outstanding options beginning of period
+ Granted options in the period
- Exercised options in the period
Outstanding options end of period
Expiration date options
2019
2020
2021
2022
Total

2017
5,445,944
772,159
-38,523
6,179,580

2016
4,308,907
1,202,037
-65,000
5,445,944

Number of options
566,206
3,639,178
1,122,444
851,752
6,179,580

In 2017, 38,523 options were exercised (65,000 options in 2016 and 65,000 options in 2015).
It is expected that all options will be exercised.
No share options have been granted as at today's date based on vesting in 2017. In line with the company’s guidelines for
variable remuneration, there may be a grant later in 2018, once the 2017 annual financial statements have been reviewed at
the AGM. Variable remuneration of NOK 7.6 million was recognised in 2017 (NOK 4.8 million for 2016). In the event of a grant,
the exact number of bonus options will depend on the share’s market value at the grant date and other factors as described
by means of introduction in this note.

NOTE 16: LIQUIDITY AND INTEREST RATE RISK
The Board has established guidelines setting limits for maximum interest rate risk. As of todays date, no fixed interest
conditions are offered. Interest rate risk is monitored and reported on an ongoing basis in accordance with established
instructions.
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Liquidity risk
As at 31 December 2017
ASSETS
Loans and deposits with credit institutions
Net loans to customers
Certificates and bonds
Other assets
Total

LIABILITIES
Deposits from and debt to customers
Senior unsecured bond*
Subordinated loans*
Other debt
Total

< 3 months

3 months < 1 year

1 year < 5 years

99.9
99.9

31.4
31.4

250.2
250.2

< 1 month

1 month < 1 year

1 year < 10 years

28.0
28.0

135.9
135.9

413.5
95.4
508.9

Without any
term
442.3
5,461.0
75.1
5,978.3

442.3
5,461.0
381.6
75.1
6,359.9

Without any
term
4,330.5
4,330.5

4,330.5
413.5
95.4
163.9
5,003.2

Without any
term
498.8
3,322.0
27.4
3,848.1

498.8
3,322.0
310.0
27.4
4,158.1

Total

Total

*The liability item subordinated loans and senior unsecured bond includes future interest.

As at 31 December 2016
ASSETS
Loans and deposits with credit institutions
Net loans to customers
Certificates and bonds
Other assets
Total

LIABILITIES

< 3 months

3 months < 1 year

1 year < 5 years

45.0
45.0

20.1
20.1

245.0
245.0

< 1 month

1 month < 1 year

1 year < 10 years

3.0
3.0

59.8
59.8

100.0
100.0

< 3 months

3 months < 1 year

1 year < 5 years

15.0
15.0

15.1
15.1

189.9
189.9

Without any
term
251.7
1,601.1
28.7
1,881.5

< 1 month
3.7
3.7

1 month < 1 year
12.4
12.4

Without any term
1,751.1
1,751.1

Total
1,751.1
16.1
1,767.2

Deposits from and debt to customers
Subordinated loans*
Other debt
Total

Without any
term
3,313.0
3,313.0

Total

Total
3,313.0
100.0
62.8
3,475.7

*The liability item subordinated loans include future interest.

As at 1 January 2016
ASSETS
Loans and deposits with credit institutions
Net loans to customers
Certificates and bonds
Other assets
Total

LIABILITIES
Deposits from and debt to customers
Other debt
Total

Total
251.7
1,601.1
220.0
28.7
2,101.5

The Bank had no financial instruments that have not been recognised in the balance sheet as at 31 December 2017 (none as
of 31 December 2016 or 1 January 2016). All items are in Norwegian kroner (NOK). See also the Report From the Board of
Directors for further information and a discussion of the Bank’s liquidity risk.

Komplett Bank ASA / Pb. 448 / 1327 Lysaker / BRN: 998997801 / komplettbank.no

Interest rate risk
Different fixed-rate periods for assets and liabilities will lead to an interest rate risk for the Bank. A summary of the remaining
period for agreed/probable interest rate adjustments for assets and liabilities is provided below:
As at 31 December 2017:
ASSETS
Loans and deposits with credit institutions
Net loans to customers
Certificates and bonds
Other assets
Total

LIABILITIES
Subordinated loans
Senior unsecured bond
Deposits from and debt to customers
Other debt
Total

< 1 month
442.3
442.3

3 months < 1 year
5,461.0
381.6
5,842.6

Without any term
75.1
75.1

1 month < 3 months
64.6
399.3
4,330.5
4,794.3

Without any term
163.9
163.9

Total
64.6
399.3
4,330.5
163.9
4,958.2

< 1 month
498.8
498.8

3 months < 1 year
3,322.0
310.0
3,632.0

Without any term
27.4
27.4

1 month < 3 months
64.1
3,313.0
3,377.1

Without any term
62.8
62.8

Total
64.1
3,313.0
62.8
3,439.9

Total
442.3
5,461.0
381.6
75.1
6,359.9

As at 31 December 2016:
ASSETS
Loans and deposits with credit institutions
Net loans to customers
Certificates and bonds
Other assets
Total
LIABILITIES
Subordinated loans
Deposits from and debt to customers
Other debt
Total

Total
498.8
3,322.0
310.0
27.4
4,158.1

As at 1 January 2016:
ASSETS

< 1 month 1 month < 3 months

Loans and deposits with credit institutions
Net loans to customers
Certificates and bonds
Other assets
Total

LIABILITIES
Deposits from and debt to customers
Other debt
Total

1,601.1
214.8
1,815.9

5.2
5.2

1 month < 3 months
1,751.1
1,751.1

Without any term
16.1
16.1

Total
1,751.1
16.1
1,767.2

Interest rate risk - Sensitivity of 1% point change in the yield
curve:
Loans and deposits with credit institutions
Net loans to customers
Certificates and bonds
Other assets
Total for assets
Deposits from and debt to customers
Subordinated loans
Other debt
Total for liabilities
Total interest rate risk

1 year < 5 years Without any term

251.7
251.7

28.7
28.7

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

01.01.2016

0.7
9.3
0.6
10.6

0.7
5.7
0.8
7.2

0.4
2.7
0.7
3.8

-7.2
-0.2
-7.4

-5.5
-0.3
-5.8

-2.9
-2.9

3.2

1.4

0.9
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Total
251.7
1,601.1
220.0
28.7
2,101.5

NOTE 17: EARNINGS PER SHARE AND KEY FIGURES
Earnings per share
Number of shares beginning of period
Number of issued shares in the period
Number of issued shares in the period
Number of issued shares in the period
Number of shares end of period

2017
148,369,126
22,972,972
38,523
171,380,621

2016
135,465,000
65,000
12,500,000
339,126
148,369,126

Average number of shares in the period

151,643,043

139,782,535

Profit after tax (amount in NOK)
Number of shares end of period
Earnings per share based on number of shares end of period (NOK)

273,836,713
171,380,621
1.60

129,168,556
148,369,126
0.87

2015
89,200,000
46,200,000
30,000
35,000
135,465,000
125,028,205
11,291,265
135,465,000
0.08

Profit after tax (amount in NOK)
Average number of shares in the period
Earnings per share based on average number of shares in the period (NOK)

273,836,713
151,643,043
1.81

129,168,556
139,782,535
0.92

11,291,265
125,028,205
0.09

Profit after tax (amount in NOK)
Number of shares and outstanding share options end of period
Earnings per share based on number of shares and share options end of period (NOK)

273,836,713
177,560,201
1.54

129,168,556
153,536,470
0.84

11,291,265
139,430,307
0.08

Profit after tax (amount in NOK)
Number of shares, outstanding share options and warrants end of period
Diluted earnings per share (NOK)

273,836,713
187,460,201
1.46

129,168,556
163,436,470
0.79

11,291,265
149,330,307
0.08

The profit after tax for 2017 represented 5.13 % (4.13 % for 2016 and 0.72 % in 2015) of average total assets throughout the
year. The average total assets are calculated on the basis of quarterly figures.
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NOTE 18: RELATED PARTIES AND OTHER INFORMATION
There is a cooperation agreement between Komplett AS and Komplett Bank ASA. The agreement concerns IP rights, marketing
cooperation and other services. The agreement was renewed in 2017 and will have a duration of 5 years. The agreement will
then be renewed automatically for a year at a time until the agreement is terminated by one of the parties. Komplett Bank
recognised a cost of NOK 6.6 million (NOK 3.7 million in 2016 and NOK 1.5 million in 2015) relating to this agreement in 2017.
Liabilities due as at 31 December 2017 to Komplett AS totalled NOK 1.9 million (NOK 1.2 million in 2016 and NOK 0.6 million as
at 1 January 2016).
An agreement has also been entered into on product cooperation relating to the Bank’s credit card and associated benefits
programme. The agreement has, among other things, the purpose of promoting sales and use of the Bank’s credit card and
contributing to promoting sales for Komplett AS.
A lease has been entered into for business premises at Vollsveien 2A, 1366 Lysaker. The lease expires on 31 December 2023.
The annual minimum rent agreed for the period is NOK 2.8 million, excl. VAT. The Bank does not have any other significant
leases.
An agreement has been entered into with Komplett AS on the development of a solution for the integration of the Bank's
products in the Komplett Group’s POS solutions. During the second half of 2017, the Bank’s products were implemented in the
Komplett Group’s cash register solutions. Further integration is planned for in 2018.

NOTE 19: RISK MANAGEMENT
General
The Board has established various policies for management and control of key risks. The policies, which are updated
regularly, describe both quantitative risk limits and relevant qualitative guidelines.
The Board receives compliance and risk control reports relating to the established policies, from the administration regularly
and as required.
The Bank is exposed to different types of business risk. Operational risk and credit risk are two key risks discussed in greater
detail below.
Operational risk
The Bank’s strategy for operational risk is defined in the Bank’s policy for operational risk. According to the Bank’s general
principles, there shall be procedures for identifying and reporting operational risk. Operational risk shall be measured and
managed based on systematic assessments of operational risk factors and operational risk assessments. This shall be included
as an integral part of the decision-making process in the Bank. The measurement methods applied shall fulfil the measurement
methods for main categories other than risk.

Credit risk
The Bank’s general strategy for credit risk is defined in the Bank’s credit policy. The general principles stipulate, among other
things, the following:
o
o
o
o

The Bank’s loans shall only be to private individuals.
The Bank's loans shall be well diversified.
All customers shall be subject to a credit assessment.
In addition to credit score rules, the customer must also be accepted in accordance with the Bank’s policy
rules and the Bank’s requirements for ability and willingness to pay.
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NOTE 20: CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial instruments (held for
Financial instruments measured at
trading) at fair value through profit
amortized cost
or loss
31.12.2017 31.12.2016 01.01.2016 31.12.2017 31.12.2016 01.01.2016
Assets
Loans and deposits with credit institutions
Net loans to customers
Certificates and bonds
Total financial assets

381.6
381.6

310.0
310.0

220.0
220.0

442.3
5,461.0
5,903.3

498.8
3,322.0
3,820.8

251.7
1,601.1
1,852.8

Liabilities
Deposits from and debt to customers
Subordinated loans
Senior unsecured bond

-

-

-

4,330.5
64.6
399.3

3,313.0
64.1
-

1,751.1
-

Total financial liabilities

-

-

-

4,794.4

3,377.1

1,751.1

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities assessed at amortised cost
Loans and deposits with credit institutions
Fair value is estimated as corresponding to amortised cost.
Net loans to customers
Net loans to customers are highly exposed to market competition so that any additional values in the loan balance will not be
able to be maintained over time. At the same time, an impairment is recognised for this accounting item if observable events
occur that indicate a fall in value. The individual impairments are based on an assessment of the future cash flow, discounted
by the effective rate of interest. The fair value is therefore essentially regarded as corresponding to amortised cost.
Deposits from and debt to customers
Fair value is estimated as corresponding to amortised cost.
Subordinated loans and senior unsecured bond
The Bank’s subordinated loans and senior unsecured bond is traded in a market place, but the sale of the instrument takes
place relatively infrequently. As compensation for the observable prices, it is assessed that the amortised cost can be used as
an approximation of the fair value.
Low
Assets
Loans and deposits with credit institutions
Net loans to customers
Certificates and bonds
Total financial assets

-

Liabilities
Deposits from and debt to customers
Subordinated loans
Senior unsecured bond
Total financial liabilities

-

Medium

High

3,917.7
3,917.7

442.3
381.6
823.9

4,330.5
64.6
399.3
4,794.4

-

Low

Medium

High

-

2,602.3
2,602.3

498.8
310.0
808.8

-

-

3,313.0
64.1
3,377.1

Low

Medium

High

-

1,338.9
1,338.9

251.7
220.0
471.7

-

-

1,751.1
1,751.1

The credit quality of the financial instruments is presented for the part of the instrument that is not past due or impaired.
Credit quality is defined as the financial instrument’s ability to deliver agreed cash flows. A deterioration in the quality of
credit means that one or more events are taking place that have an undesired effect on the expected future cash flows for
the financial instrument. Net loans to customers are set as average credit quality because the Bank operates in unsecured
loans but, at the same time, has good procedures for credit assessments and monitoring overdue loans.
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NOTE 21: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ASSESSED AT FAIR VALUE
Financial instruments at fair value are placed in the different levels below on the basis of the quality of market data for the
individual type of instrument.
Level 1: Valuation based on listed prices in an active market
Financial instruments valued using listed prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities are placed in level 1. This
category includes government bonds traded in active markets.
Level 2 Valuation based on observable market data
Financial instruments valued using information where prices are directly or indirectly observable for the assets or liabilities
are placed in level 2. The category includes the Bank's investments in bonds with pre-emption rights.
Level 3 Valuation based on non-observable market data
If a valuation cannot be established in levels 1 or 2, valuation methods are used that are based on non-observable market data.

31.12.2017
Financial instruments measured at fair value

31.12.2016

01.01.2016

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets
Certificates and bonds

99.9

281.7

-

50.0

260.0

-

20.2

199.8

-

Total financial instruments measured at fair value

99.9

281.7

-

50.0

260.0

-

20.2

199.8

-

NOTE 22: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
As part of an internal reorganisation in the Komplett Group, Komplett AS sold 26,157,285 shares in Komplett Bank ASA and
1,590,000 subscription rights to Canica Invest AS. After the transaction, Komplett AS no longer owns shares or other rights to
shares in the Bank.
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NOTE 23: ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Alternative performance measures are often used by investors, financial analysts and others for decision-making
purposes by contributing to a deeper insight into the operational and financial aspects of a company. Alternative
performance measures can provide reinforcing information on the company's historical and present situation,
and the company's future prospects.
The Bank has defined “return on equity” (ROE) and cost percentage as the company's alternative performance
measures and these are presented in the Report from the Board of Directors. Both the alternative performance
measures refer to events that have occurred and are recognised in the Bank’s annual financial statements.
Return on equity (ROE) is defined as the annual profit/average quarterly equity expressed as a percentage. This
is one of the company’s most important target figures and provides information on the Bank’s ability to generate
a surplus from the shareholders’ investments.
The cost percentage is defined as the total operating expenses, excluding marketing costs and losses on
loans/net interest income and net commissions and fees. The target figure is presented in order to give
investors, financial analysts and others an insight into how the costs correlate to revenues and to give users of
the accounts information on developments in the Bank’s operational effectiveness.

Reconciliation from alternative performance measures to financial reporting
Return on equity (ROE)

Profit after tax*
Total equity*

31.12.2016
I/A
718.3

31.03.2017
92.2
925.2

30.06.2017
56.8
830.5

30.09.2017
52.0
771.1

31.12.2017
72.9
1 401,7

Total
273.8
I/A

Average
I/A
929.3

Return on equity (ROE) = 273.8 / 929.3 = 29.4 %

*Over the course of 2017, the Bank has gone from reporting interim financial statements in accordance with the Norwegian
Accounting Act and generally accepted accounting standards in Norway to preparing financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). For the calculation of return on equity, the Bank has consistently used
revised IFRS figures linked to the annual profit and quarterly equity. Please refer to the Bank’s published presentation in Q4
for an overview of the quarterly equity. The annual profit can be read from the statement of total comprehensive income.

Cost percentage

Total operating expenses excluding losses on loans*
- Direct marketing expenses*
= Total operating expenses excluding losses on
loans and direct marketing expenses

Net interest income*
+ Net commissions and fees*
= Net interest income and commissions and fees

2017
221.7
79.9
141.8
2017
669.8
37.0
706.8

Cost percentage= 141.8 / 706.8 = 20.1 %

*The basis for the calculation can be read directly from the statement of total comprehensive income for 2017.
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To the General Meeting of Komplett Bank ASA

Independent Auditor’s Report
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Komplett Bank ASA which comprise the balance sheet as
at 31 December 2017, income statement, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with law and
regulations and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at 31
December 2017, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by EU.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company as
required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

The value of loans to customers
Loans to customers represent a
considerable part of the group’s total
assets. The assessment of loan loss
provisions is a model based framework
which includes elements of management
judgment. The framework, which is
complex, includes a considerable volume
of data and judgemental parameters,
which are based on a risk classification of

We have evaluated and tested the design and
effectiveness of controls related to the loan loss provision
models. The testing of these controls, focusing on the
risk classification of the loans, were performed to verify
the models’ input parameters and to test elements of the
capital adequacy regulations. We concluded that we
could base our audit on these controls.
We controlled the accuracy of the data used in the
calculation of the loan loss provision by tracing data back
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loans and internal controls related to the
identification of impaired loans. The use of
the model based framework and use of
management judgment, affect the profit
for the period and is important for the
compliance with the capital adequacy
regulations.

to registration in the systems on a sample basis. We have
also tested the models mathematical accuracy.

In our audit we have focused on:

Further, we compared actual historical losses with
previous years estimated losses. The test results showed
that management had used appropriate assumptions in
their evaluation of parameters.

•

The process for identification of
loans with objective evidence of
impairment

•

Assumptions and judgments made
by management underlying the
parameters and calculations

The new accounting standard for financial
instruments, IFRS 9, will be adopted from
01.01.2018. Provision for loan losses will
be affected. We have focused on the bank’s
preparation for the adoption of this
standard as we expect it to have a
significant impact on the financial
statements. IFRS requires that the
company present the effects of the new
standard in the related disclosures to the
financial statements as of 31.12.17.
We refer to note 1, 3 and 16 to the financial
statements for further descriptions related
to the loan loss provisions.
IT systems supporting processes over
financial reporting
We have focused on this area as the bank’s
financial reporting processes and business
are dependent on relatively complex
systems. There is a risk that automated
accounting processes and related IT
dependent manual controls are not
designed effectively and/or operating
effectively.

To ensure that the setting of parameters related to the
probability of default were appropriate, we interviewed
management and challenged the relevance and the
methods applied.

We have conducted interviews with management to
ensure that the setting of parameters in the new model
for loan loss provisions were appropriate according to
IFRS 9. We tested that the data included in the
calculations were accurate by tracing data back to
registration in the systems on a sample basis. We have
also tested the models mathematical accuracy.
Management states that the implementation work
associated with the transition to IFRS 9 has led to a
conclusion that the change will have a material impact
on the bank’s recorded loan loss provisions.
We have read the information that is presented in the
related disclosures made by management about the
implementation process and in our opinion, it reflects
the implementation process and management judgments
in an appropriate way. We refer to note 1 to the financial
statements for further descriptions.

The bank uses external service organizations for support
with their IT systems. The audit team performed detailed
substantive testing of relevant reports and automated
controls for the external service organization and the
company itself. This allowed us to satisfy ourselves with
regard to the completeness and accuracy of data in the IT
and payment systems relevant to financial reporting.
Further, we performed tests on the access controls to the
IT systems and segregation of duties where it was
relevant for our audit.
Our assessments and controls gave us sufficient evidence
to enable us to rely on the operation of the bank’s IT and
payment systems in our audit.
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Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Board of
Directors’ report, the statements on Corporate Governance and Corporate Social Responsibility, but
does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the
Financial Statements
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (management) are responsible for the preparation
in accordance with law and regulations, including fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
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obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
•

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

•

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•

conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the
information presented in the Board of Directors’ report and in the statements on Corporate
Governance and Corporate Social Responsibility concerning the financial statements, the going
concern assumption, and the proposal for the allocation of the profit is consistent with the financial
statements and complies with the law and regulations.
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Opinion on Registration and Documentation
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements
(ISAE) 3000, Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information, it is our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly
set out registration and documentation of the Company’s accounting information in accordance with
the law and bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway.
Oslo, 28 February 2018
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS

Bjørn Rydland
Registered Public Accountant
Note: This translation from Norwegian has been prepared for information purposes only.
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